ORTA DOĞU TEKNİK ÜNİVERSİTESİ Fen bilimleri enstitüsü müdürlüğü

### TEZ ŞABLONU ONAY FORMU THESIS TEMPLATE CONFIRMATION FORM

- Şablonda verilen yerleşim ve boşluklar değiştirilmemelidir.
- 2. Jüri tarihi Başlık Sayfası, İmza Sayfası, Abstract ve Öz'de ilgili yerlere yazılmalıdır.
- İmza sayfasında jüri üyelerinin unvanları doğru olarak yazılmalıdır. Tüm imzalar mavi pilot kalemle atılmalıdır.
- 4. Disiplinlerarası programlarda görevlendirilen öğretim üyeleri için jüri üyeleri kısmında tam zamanlı olarak çalıştıkları anabilim dalı başkanlığının ismi yazılmalıdır. Örneğin: bir öğretim üyesi Biyoteknoloji programında görev yapıyor ve biyoloji bölümünde tam zamanlı çalışıyorsa, İmza sayfasına biyoloji bölümü yazılmalıdır. İstisnai olarak, disiplinler arası program başkanı ve tez danışmanı için disiplinlerarası program adı yazılmalıdır.
- 5. Tezin son sayfasının sayfa numarası Abstract ve Öz'de ilgili yerlere yazılmalıdır.
- 6. Bütün chapterlar, referanslar, ekler ve CV sağ sayfada başlamalıdır. Bunun için kesmeler kullanılmıştır. Kesmelerin kayması fazladan boş sayfaların oluşmasına sebep olabilir. Bu gibi durumlarda paragraf (¶) işaretine tıklayarak kesmeleri görünür hale getirin ve yerlerini kontrol edin.
- **7.** Figürler ve tablolar kenar boşluklarına taşmamalıdır.
- **8.** Şablonda yorum olarak eklenen uyarılar dikkatle okunmalı ve uygulanmalıdır.
- Tez yazdırılmadan önce PDF olarak kaydedilmelidir. Şablonda yorum olarak eklenen uyarılar PDF dokümanında yer almamalıdır.
- **10.** Tez taslaklarının kontrol işlemleri tamamlandığında, bu durum öğrencilere METU uzantılı öğrenci eposta adresleri aracılığıyla duyurulacaktır.
- Tez yazım süreci ile ilgili herhangi bir sıkıntı yaşarsanız, <u>Sıkça Sorulan Sorular (SSS)</u> sayfamızı ziyaret ederek yaşadığınız sıkıntıyla ilgili bir çözüm bulabilirsiniz.

- **1.** Do not change the spacing and placement in the template.
- 2. Write **defense date** to the related places given on Title page, Approval page, Abstract and Öz.
- **3.** Write the titles of the examining committee members correctly on Approval Page. **Blue ink** must be used for all signatures.
- 4. For faculty members working in interdisciplinary programs, the name of the department that they work full-time should be written on the Approval page. For example, if a faculty member staffs in the biotechnology program and works full-time in the biology department, the department of biology should be written on the approval page. Exceptionally, for the interdisciplinary program chair and your thesis supervisor, the interdisciplinary program name should be written.
- 5. Write the page number of the last page in the related places given on Abstract and Öz pages.
- 6. All chapters, references, appendices and CV must be started on the right page. Section Breaks were used for this. Change in the placement of section breaks can result in extra blank pages. In such cases, make the section breaks visible by clicking paragraph (¶) mark and check their position.
- **7.** All figures and tables must be given inside the page. Nothing must appear in the margins.
- **8.** All the warnings given on the comments section through the thesis template must be read and applied.
- **9.** Save your thesis as pdf and Disable all the comments before taking the printout.
- **10.** This will be announced to the students via their METU students e-mail addresses when the control of the thesis drafts has been completed.
- If you have any problems with the thesis writing process, you may visit our <u>Frequently Asked</u> <u>Questions (FAQ)</u> page and find a solution to your problem.

🛛 Yukarıda bulunan tüm maddeleri okudum, anladım ve kabul ediyorum. / I have read, understand and accept all of the items above.

Name	: Demet
Surname	: Sönmezler
E-Mail	: demet.sonmezler@metu.edu.tr
Date	-
Signature	:

## ENCAPSULATION OF OLIVE LEAF EXTRACT BY DOUBLE EMULSION METHOD

## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ 

DEMET SÖNMEZLER

## IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN FOOD ENGINEERING

JANUARY 2023

# Approval of the thesis:

## ENCAPSULATION OF OLIVE LEAF EXTRACT BY DOUBLE EMULSION METHOD

submitted by **DEMET SÖNMEZLER** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science** in **Food Engineering**, **Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of <b>Natural and Applied Sciences</b>	
Prof. Dr. Hami Alpas Head of the Department, <b>Food Engineering</b>	
Prof. Dr. Servet Gülüm Şumnu Supervisor, <b>Food Engineering, METU</b>	
Prof. Dr. Serpil Şahin Co-Supervisor, <b>Food Engineering, METU</b>	
Examining Committee Members:	
Assoc. Prof. Halil Mecit Öztop Food Engineering, METU	
Prof. Dr. Gülüm Şumnu Food Engineering, METU	
Prof. Dr. Serpil Şahin Food Engineering, METU	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Leyla N. Kahyaoğlu Food Engineering, METU	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Nalan Yazıcıoğlu Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, University of Health Sciences	

Date: 27.01.2023

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name Last name : Demet Sönmezler

Signature :

#### ABSTRACT

### ENCAPSULATION OF OLIVE LEAF EXTRACT BY DOUBLE EMULSION METHOD

Sönmezler, Demet Master of Science, Food Engineering Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Gülüm Şumnu Co-Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Serpil Şahin

January 2023, 125 pages

Olive leaves are obtained as a waste product in olive and olive oil production. Biophenols, abundantly found in olive leaves, has well-known health benefits and can be used in dietary supplements, nutraceuticals, or functional food ingredients. However, the sensitivity of biophenols to heat, light and oxidizing agents necessitates the development of various methods, such as encapsulation, to increase their bioavailability. Undesired sensorial properties of the extract can also be masked by encapsulation.

In this study, double emulsions were preferred as an encapsulation method owing to the protective effect it provides to the active substance and the control over its release. W/O/W type of double emulsions was prepared considering the water solubility of olive leaf extract. The effect of different pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) and different homogenization methods (high-speed homogenization, ultrasonication) on emulsion properties was experimented. The prepared emulsions were characterized with respect to their particle size, rheology, encapsulation efficiency, stability, optical images and release behavior.

As hypothesized, flours acted as emulsifiers in the outer aqueous phase to increase the stability of emulsions. It was observed that both the long-term and instant stability of emulsions were correlated with the viscosity and particle size. Increasing pea flour concentration from 15% to 25% resulted in a 25% increase in the stability of double emulsions prepared with high-speed homogenization (HSH) and a 30% increase in emulsions prepared with ultrasonication (US). The higher stability of emulsions prepared with 25% was due to their higher viscosity and smaller particle size. Storage temperature also affected the stability of emulsions as emulsions stored at 20°C showed faster degradation compared to 4°C. Moreover, due to the lower viscosity, this effect was more prominent in emulsions in which 15% pea flour was employed. US treatment did not decrease the average particle size of emulsions. Average encapsulation efficiency values for double emulsions prepared with HSH and US were 88.3% and 85.9%, respectively. As a result, pea flours could be used to encapsulate olive leaf extract successfully with high encapsulation efficiencies by using double emulsion method.

Keywords: Olive Leaf Extract, Double Emulsion, Encapsulation, Pea flour, Ultrasonication

# ZEYTİN YAPRAĞI ÖZÜTÜNÜN İKİLİ EMULSİYON METODUYLA ENKAPSÜLASYONU

Sönmezler, Demet Yüksek Lisans, Gıda Mühendisliği Tez Yöneticisi: Prof. Dr. Gülüm Şumnu Ortak Tez Yöneticisi: Prof. Dr. Serpil Şahin

Ocak 2023, 125 sayfa

Zeytin yaprağı, zeytin ve zeytinyağı üretiminde atık ürün olarak elde edilmektedir. Zeytin yaprağında bol miktarda bulunan biyofenollerin sağlık açısından faydalı oldukları bir çok çalışmada gösterilmiştir ve bunlar diyet takviyelerinde, nutrasötiklerde veya fonksiyonel gıda bileşenlerinde kullanılabilirler. Ancak biyofenollerin ısıya, ışığa, okside edici maddelere karşı olan duyarlılığı, biyoyararlılıklarının arttırılması için enkapsülasyon gibi çeşitli yöntemlerin geliştirilmesini gerekli kılmıştır. Bunun yanısıra enkapsülasyon, zeytin yaprağı özütünün sahip olduğu istenmeyen duyusal özellikleri maskeleme potansiyeline sahiptir.

Bu çalışmada ikili emülsiyon yöntemi aktif maddeye sağladığı koruyucu etki ve salınım üzerinde sağladığı kontrol dolayısıyla tercih edilmiştir. Farklı bezelye unu konsantrasyonlarının (%15, %20, %25) ve homojenizasyon yöntemlerinin (yüksek hızlı homojenizasyon, ultrasonikasyon) emülsiyon özellikleri üzerine olan etkisi incelenmiştir. Zeytin yaprağı özütünün suda çözünebilir olduğu göz önüne alınarak S/Y/S tipi ikili emülsiyonlar kullanılmıştır. Hazırlanan emülsiyonların

karakterizasyonu için partikül boyutu ve dağılımı, reolojileri, enkapsülasyon verimleri, stabiliteleri, mikroskop görüntüleri ve salım hızları incelenmiştir.

Çalışma sonucunda, bezelye unlarının beklenildiği üzere dış fazda emülgatör görevi gördüğü ve emülsiyonların stabilitesine katkıda bulunduğu gözlemlenmiştir. Emülsiyonların hem anlık stabilitesinin hem de depolama sırasında stabilitelerinin viskozite ve partikül boyutlarıyla ile ilişkili olduğu görülmüştür. Bezelye unu konsantrasyonunun %15'ten %25'e yükseltilmesi, yüksek hızlı homojenizasyon yöntemi ile hazırlanan ikili emülsiyonların stabilitesinde %25, ultrasonikasyon yöntemi ile hazırlanan emülsiyonlarda ise %30'luk bir artışa sebep olmuştur. %25 un konsantrasyonu ile hazırlanan emülsiyonların, yüksek viskoziteye ve daha küçük parçacık boyutlarına sahip olmaları nedeniyle daha yüksek stabiliteye sahip oldukları görülmüştür. Aynı zamanda depolama sıcaklığının da stabiliteye etkisi olmuştur. Emülsiyonlar 20°C'de depolandıklarında, 4°C'ye kıyasla daha hızlı bozulma göstermişlerdir. %15 bezelye unu kullanılan emülsiyonlarda viskozitenin daha düşük olmasından dolayı bu etki daha belirgin bir şekilde görülmüştür. Ultrasonikasyon uygulanması emülsiyonların ortalama parçacık büyüklüğünü düsürmemistir. Yüksek hızlı homojenizasyon ve ultrasonikasyon ile hazırlanan ikili emülsiyonlar için ortalama enkapsülasyon verimliliği %88.3 ve %85.9 olarak bulunmuştur. Sonuç olarak, unların zeytin yaprağı özütünün ikili emülsiyon yöntemiyle enkapsülasyonunda başarılı bir şekilde kullanılabileceği gösterilmiştir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Zeytin Yaprağı Özütü, İkili Emulsiyon, Enkapsülasyon, Bezelye Unu, Ultrasonikasyon

To my beloved family and friends,

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Gülüm Şumnu for her continuous guidance and valuable suggestions. I also want to thank my cosupervisor, Prof. Dr. Serpil Şahin for her help throughout my studies.

Besides, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee; Assoc. Prof. Halil Mecit Öztop, Assist. Prof. Dr. Leyla N. Kahyaoğlu and Assist. Prof. Dr. Nalan Yazıcıoğlu for their encouragement and insightful comments.

My sincere thanks goes to Sinem Katırcı and Hilmi Eriklioğlu, who were never too busy to give me a call whenever I had a mid-thesis crisis and went to almost every cafe possible in Ankara while I was writing my thesis. I want to thank my friends; Büşra Yıldırım, Ezgi Çifte, Hilal Samut, Furkan Erdem, Melisa Koşar and Segâh Yetişkin for their help in making me smile during my stressful days and encouraging me throughout this journey. Their support and love means the world to me. I'm also thankful to Elif Gökçen Ateş, Özge Güven, Selen Güner, Kübra Ertan and Cansu Kabakcı. They were always there for me whenever I needed advice, guidance or simply support.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Vuslat Gencer and Yalçın Sönmezler, my sister, Doğa Sönmezler, and my best friend, İlayda Kurt, for their love, unwavering support and belief throughout my education as well as life. This endeavor would not have been possible without them.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACTv
ÖZvii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSx
TABLE OF CONTENTSxi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESxv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxix
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Olive Leaf Extract2
1.2 Encapsulation
1.3 Double Emulsions
1.4 Double Emulsion Preparation Methods
1.4.1 High-Speed Homogenization14
1.4.2 Ultrasonication15
1.5 Emulsifiers
1.5.1 Use of Legumes as Emulsifiers
1.5.2 Pea flour
1.6 Objective of the Study
2 MATERIALS & METHODS
2.1 Materials
2.2 Preparation of Double Emulsions27
2.2.1 W1/O (Primary) Emulsion Preparation

2.2.2	2 W1/O/W2 (Double) Emulsion Preparation	
2.3	Characterization of Emulsions	
2.3.	l Dilution Test	
2.3.2	2 Stability of Emulsions	
2.3.3	3 Particle Size Analysis	
2.3.4	4 Rheology	
2.3.	5 Optical Imaging	
2.3.0	6 Encapsulation Efficiency	
2.3.	7 Release of Olive Leaf Extract	41
2.4	Statistical Analysis	42
3	RESULTS & DISCUSSION	43
3.1	Particle Size and Distribution	
3.2	Rheology	51
3.3	Instant Stability	57
3.4	Long-Term Stability	59
3.5	Optical Imaging	67
3.6	Encapsulation Efficiency of Emulsions and Release (%) of OLE	72
4	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	81
5	REFERENCES	83
6	APPENDICES	107
A.	Calibration Curves	107
B.	Optical Images of Double Emulsions	108
C.	Statistical Analysis	111

# LIST OF TABLES

# TABLES

Table 1.1 Double emulsion studies on encapsulation of phenolic compounds9
Table 3.1 D <sub>50</sub> , D <sub>3,2</sub> and D <sub>4,3</sub> and span values for double emulsions prepared with
different homogenization methods and pea flour concentrations 50
Table 3.2 Consistency index and flow behavior index of double emulsions prepared
with different methods (HSH, US) and pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%)
Table 3.3 Final stability (%) of emulsions after 12 weeks of storage at 4°C and
20°C
Table 6.1 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for surface mean
diameter (D3,2) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and
25% pea flour concentrations
Table 6.2 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for volume mean
diameter (D4,3) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and
25% pea flour concentrations
Table 6.3 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for $D_{50}$ value of double
emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour
concentrations
Table 6.4 One-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for D <sub>90</sub> value of double
emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour
concentrations
Table 6.5 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for flow behaviour
index of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea
flour concentrations 116
Table 6.6 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for consistency index of
double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour

Table 6.7 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for apparent viscosity of
double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour
concentrations
Table 6.8 Correlation coefficients and p values of instant stability versus
consistency index (k) and average particle diameter (D <sub>3,2</sub> )121
Table 6.9 Correlation coefficients and p values of instant stability versus long-term
stability at 4°C and 20°C
Table 6.10 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for instant stability of
double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour
concentrations
Table 6.11 Correlation coefficients and p values of stability versus consistency
index (k), apparent viscosity and average particle diameter (D <sub>3,2</sub> )123
Table 6.12 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for encapsulation
efficiency (EE%) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20%
and 25% pea flour concentrations
Table 6.13 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for release (%) of
double emulsions prepared by HSH and 25% flour

# LIST OF FIGURES

# FIGURES

Figure 1.1 An illustration of olive branch and leaves (Debib & Boukhatem, 2017) 2		
Figure 1.2 Chemical structures of phenolic compounds found in olive leaf extract		
(Borjan et al., 2020)		
Figure 1.3 Schematic representation of W/O/W Emulsions		
Figure 1.4 Instability mechanisms in emulsions (McClements, 2015) 12		
Figure 2.1 Two-step emulsification technique (van der Graaf et al., 2005)		
Figure 2.2 Preparation of Primary Emulsion Using High-Speed Homogenization		
(Prepared with BioRender.com)		
Figure 2.3 Preparation of Double W1/O/W2 Emulsion (Prepared with BioRender)		
Figure 2.4 Separation of W2 phase for TPC analysis (Prepared with		
BioRender.com)		
Figure 3.1 Particle size distribution of double emulsions prepared with high-speed		
homogenization using different concentrations of pea flour ( $\blacktriangle$ ):15%, ( $\blacklozenge$ ):20%,		
(●):25%		
Figure 3.2 Particle size distribution of double emulsions prepared with		
ultrasonication using different concentrations of pea flour ( $\blacktriangle$ ):15%, ( $\blacklozenge$ ):20%,		
(•):25%		
Figure 3.3 Surface moment mean diameter $(D_{3,2})$ of double emulsions prepared		
with different homogenization methods (HSH, US) and different concentrations of		
pea flour (15%: $\blacksquare$ , 20%: $\blacksquare$ , 25%: $\blacksquare$ ) *Different letters in the bars represent a		
significant difference (p≤0.05)		
Figure 3.4 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different methods		
using 15% pea flour ( $\bullet$ ):HSH, ( $\blacktriangle$ ):US		
Figure 3.5 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different methods		
using 20% pea flour (●):HSH, (▲):US		

Figure 3.6 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different methods
using 25% pea flour (●):HSH, (▲):US
Figure 3.7 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different pea
flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) and homogenization methods (HSH: $\blacksquare$ ,
US: $\blacksquare$ ) *Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference (p $\leq 0.05$ ) 55
Figure 3.8 Instant stability of double emulsions prepared with different
homogenization methods (HSH, US) and different concentrations of pea flour
(15%: ■, 20%:■, 25%:■) *Different letters in the bars represent a significant
difference (p≤0.05)
Figure 3.9 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different
concentrations of pea flour and high-speed homogenization during 12 weeks
storage at 20°C (▲):15%, (♦):20%, (●):25%
Figure 3.10 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different
concentrations of pea flour and ultrasonication during 12 weeks storage at 20°C
(▲):15%, (♦):20%, (●):25%
Figure 3.11 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different
concentrations of pea flour and high-speed homogenization during 12 weeks
storage at $4^{\circ}C(\blacktriangle):15\%, (\bigstar):20\%, (\textcircled{O}):25\%$
Figure 3.12 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different
concentrations of pea flour and ultrasonication during 12 weeks storage at 4°C
(▲):15%, (♦):20%, (●):25%
Figure 3.13 Optical images of hydrated pea flour (left image) and primary emulsion
(right image) without dilution
Figure 3.14 Optical image of double emulsion with 20% pea flour prepared with
high-speed homogenization in the preliminary studies (40× magnification)68
Figure 3.15 Optical images of double emulsions prepared with 15% pea flour using
high speed homogenization (left) and ultrasonic homogenization (right) with $40 \times$
magnification70

Figure 3.16 Optical images of double emulsions prepared with 20% pea flour using				
high speed homogenization (left) and ultrasonic homogenization (right) with 40×				
magnification				
magnification				
Figure 3.18 Encapsulation efficiency (%) of double emulsions prepared with				
different pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) and homogenization methods				
(HSH: ■, US:■) *Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference				
(p≤0.05)				
Figure 3.19 Release (%) of OLE from emulsions prepared using HSH and 25% pea				
flour during 13 days of storage at 37°C *Different letters in the bars represent a				
significant difference (p≤0.05)77				
Figure 3.20 Fittings of the first-order kinetics of the corrected W2 results of double				
emulsions prepared using HSH and 25% pea flour during 13 days of storage at				
37°C				
Figure 6.1 Calibration curve prepared by gallic acid in ethanol:water mixture				
(50:50 v/v) for determination of total phenolic contents 107				
Figure 6.2 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using HSH and with 15%				
flour (taken with 10x lens)				
Figure 6.3 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using HSH and with 20%				
flour (taken with 10x lens)				
Figure 6.4 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using HSH and with 25%				
flour (taken with 10x lens)				
Figure 6.5 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using US and with 15%				
flour (taken with 10x lens)				
Figure 6.6 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using US and with 20%				
flour (taken with 10x lens) 110				
Figure 6.7 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using US and with 25%				

xviii

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

### ABBREVIATIONS

- D<sub>3,2</sub>: Surface moment mean diameter (µm)
- D<sub>4,3</sub>: Volume moment mean diameter (µm)
- DE: Double emulsion
- EE: Encapsulation efficiency
- HSH: High-speed homogenization
- IS: Instant stability
- K: Consistency coefficient (Pa.s)
- n: Flow behavior index
- O/W: Oil in water emulsion
- O/W/O: Oil in water in oil emulsion
- OLE TPC: TPC content of OLE (mg GAE/g)
- OLE: Olive Leaf Extract
- PE: Primary emulsion
- PGPR: Polyglycerol polyricinoleate
- Rpm: Revolution per minute
- SE: Standard error
- SS: Storage stability
- TPC: Total phenolic content
- US: Ultrasonication

- W/O: Water in oil emulsion
- W1: Inner water phase of the emulsion
- W1/O/W2: Water in oil in water emulsion
- W2: Outer water phase of the emulsion

#### **CHAPTER 1**

### **INTRODUCTION**

The olive tree, or Olea europaea L., is a small tree indigenous to tropical and mild temperate zones. It is a member of the family Oleaceae (Ghanbari et al., 2012). Since olive trees are accommodated in the Mediterranean climate, olives and their products have an important place in the diet. By 2015, nearly 98% of the olive trees were on the Mediterranean coasts (Peralbo-Molina & Luque deCastro, 2013). Thus, countries that are in the Mediterranean region produce and consume these products extensively. As stated by the Turkish Ministry of Food and Agriculture, in 2021, 1,738,680 tonnes of olives were produced (2022). In addition, Turkey is among the top 5 in the world in olive oil production (TEPGE, 2020).

Production of most crops has traditionally been focused on producing a single high-value product while disposing of the by-products. In some cases, these products can also be used to produce lower-quality products (Peralbo-Molina & Luque deCastro, 2013). Every year, a significant number of byproducts and wastes are obtained from both olive tree agriculture and the olive processing sector while the majority of these products have no practical usage (Talhaoui et al., 2015).

Olive leaves are one of the by-products of table olive and olive oil production together with olive cake, olive mill wastewater, and olive wood. These by-products are also transported to the factory together with the olives and cannot be consumed or converted into a marketable product. Olive leaves make up about 10% of the weight that is gathered and delivered to the factory after the trees are harvested (Difonzo et al., 2017; Herrero et al., 2011).

Leaves are also obtained through the pruning of olive trees. According to Talhaoui et al. (2015), even though it changes with respect to pruning conditions, approximately 5 kg of olive leaves are produced per tree annually. As in the case of oil industry, these undesired products can also be polluting for the environment (Peralbo-Molina & Luque deCastro, 2013). Thus, it is both important and crucial to find innovative ways for the valorization of these by-products, which will also support sustainable agriculture.

### **1.1 Olive Leaf Extract**

Olive leaves vary between 5-6 cm in length and 1-1.5 cms in width. Even though their features vary depending on the environmental conditions, these leaves are characterized by a grayish-green color, fine edges, and a short stem, as seen in Figure 1.1 (Borjan et al., 2020).



Figure 1.1 An illustration of olive branch and leaves (Debib & Boukhatem, 2017)

Leaves are one of the richest sources of phenolic compounds among the various parts of the olive tree (Rafiee et al., 2011). Since it possesses polyphenolic compounds that are valuable in natural medicine due to a wide variety of health-promoting effects, olive leaf extract has historically been referred to as an herbal supplement (Borjan et al., 2020).

Researchers employed a variety of methods for the extraction of phenolics from olive leaves. These methods include solvent extraction, ultrasonic and microwaveassisted extraction, supercritical fluid extraction, and pressurized liquid extraction using different solvents (Topuz & Bayram, 2022). The primary biophenol in olive leaf extract is Oleuropein which can reach a concentration of 60–90 mg/g in dry leaves (Ghanbari et al., 2012; Gharehbeglou et al., 2019). Olive leaves are also recognized as rich sources of hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, tocopherol, elenolic acid derivatives, luteolin, diosmetin, rutin, oleuropein aglycone, ligstroside aglycone along with caffeic acid, p-coumaric acid, and vanillic acid (Debib & Boukhatem, 2017; Ghanbari et al., 2012; Martín-García et al., 2022). The chemical structure of some of the phenolic compounds in olive leaves is given in Figure 1.2.

Oleuropein possesses effects that include antiviral, cardio-protective, and antihypertensive (Borjan et al., 2020; Debib & Boukhatem, 2017). Other phenolic compounds found in olive leaf extract are also found to have anti-inflammatory, anti-diabetic as well as anti-tumorigenic properties (Borjan et al., 2020; Martín-García et al., 2022). Moreover, as a result of the synergistic interactions between the components of polyphenol-rich extracts, which often contain a variety of phenolic compounds, the potential health benefits of the extract may be enhanced (Bamba et al., 2018; Borjan et al., 2020).

Since olive leaves have a diverse polyphenol profile, olive leaf extract is promising as a natural antioxidant (Robert et al., 2019). Han & Baik (2008) emphasized that in tea, fruits, and supplements derived from natural products with antioxidant properties, total antioxidant activity was substantially proportional to the total phenolic content. Olive leaf extract can be added to products with high oil

content for reduction of oxidation which will, in return, reduce the formation of off-flavors (Mohammadi, Jafari, Assadpour, et al., 2016).



Figure 1.2 Chemical structures of phenolic compounds found in olive leaf extract (Borjan et al., 2020)

Additionally, the leaves have antibacterial capabilities that can eliminate microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi, and mycoplasma (Ghanbari et al., 2012). Oleuropein is thought to exert its antimicrobial effect by denaturation of proteins, damaging bacterial membranes, and disrupting the peptidoglycan layer or enhancing its permeability, similar to other phenolic compounds (Bayram et al., 2020; Martín-García et al., 2022). Sudjana et al. (2009) observed that commercial olive leaf extract is effective against *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Staphylococcus aureus and Helicobacter pylori* whereas Borjan et al. (2020) stated that phenolic compounds from the extract are also effective on *Bacillus cereus, Escherichia coli, Candida albicans* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.

However, as polyphenols are highly sensitive to environmental stresses after being extracted from plant sources, delivering phenolic compounds through dietary supplements represents significant difficulties (Bamba et al., 2018; González-Ortega et al., 2021). Even during digestion, oleuropein is susceptible to oxidative and enzymatic reactions, which may limit its health benefits (Gharehbeglou et al., 2019). On the other hand, when oleuropein enters the colon, it is fermented by the microbiota to produce a wide variety of bioactive constituents, which results in greater bioavailability (González-Ortega et al., 2021; Kanha et al., 2021).

In addition, olive leaf extract is characterized by its bitter flavor and dark brown color (Borjan et al., 2020). In olive production, in the presence of acidic or alkaline pH, oleuropein is degraded into more bland-tasting phenolics such as hydroxytyrosol and elenolic acid, which improves the final taste of the product (González-Ortega et al., 2021). When oleuropein is incorporated into foods as an extract, it can produce off-flavor and aromas (Sanhueza et al., 2022). Thus, difficulty in adding to other food can be encountered (Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019).

### 1.2 Encapsulation

Encapsulation of compounds can aid selective delivery and controlled release of compounds in various environments. It can also mask the undesired sensorial properties and function as a protective barrier for the active compound (Giroux et al., 2016). Using encapsulation, new delivery systems for bioactive compounds with enhanced water solubility, physicochemical stability, bioaccessibility, and bioavailability can be created (Gharibzahedi & Smith, 2021). The surrounded compound is named as the active or core material, and the polymer that protects the active ingredient and controls its release is referred to as the coating (Quintero et al., 2018). The average size of particles produced with encapsulation can range from a few nanometers to a few millimeters (Wandrey et al., 2010).

Commonly, three steps are involved in the encapsulation process: Forming a wall around the material, preventing leakage, and keeping unwanted materials out (Gibbs et al., 1999). A variety of methods are utilized in encapsulation. Different methods can offer distinct advantages, and the best method will depend on a variety of factors. Some extensively used physical methods for capsule formation are spray drying, freeze-drying, emulsification, and extrusion, while physicochemical methods include coacervation, ionic gelation, and solvent evaporation-extraction. On the other hand, interfacial cross-linking and interfacial polymerization are examples of chemical processes (Shahidi & Han, 1993).

Kosaraju et al. (2006) prepared chitosan microspheres using spray drying for delivery of olive leaf extract with a loading efficiency of 27%. Spray drying of olive leaf phenolics was also studied by Kiritsakis et al. (2018) and maltodextrin was used as the carrier agent. Furthermore, liposomes were produced for the encapsulation of oleuropein. Capsules were then incorporated into acidic model drinks and storage under refrigeration conditions was investigated. The average efficiency for encapsulation of oleuropein was found to be 34% (González-Ortega et al., 2021).

A similar approach was implemented by Ganje et al. (2016) in which encapsulated and unencapsulated olive leaf extracts were added to tomato paste. Jolayemi et al. (2021), also carried out research on encapsulation of olive leaf extract by using xanthan gum as a stabilizer. In their research, the effect of olive leaf extract on the physical and oxidative stability of salad dressings was evaluated.

Emulsion-based encapsulation methods are becoming increasingly popular since they may be used in functional food items to encapsulate either or both hydrophilic and hydrophobic bioactive chemicals (Aditya et al., 2015; Gharibzahedi & Smith, 2021). High-efficiency encapsulation, maintenance of chemical stability, and controlled release further make emulsions a promising method for preserving and delivering polyphenols (W. Lu et al., 2016).

Understanding the principles behind the formation of emulsions and manipulating the bulk properties of emulsion systems is already a high priority to the food industry since they are essential for the processing, storage, and handling of foodstuff (Dapueto et al., 2019). Emulsification is especially favorable when the encapsulated material is added to liquid functional products such as beverages. In this case, the absorption and bioavailability of the core material are directly affected by the chemical and physical stability of emulsions (R. Zhang et al., 2020).

Mohammadi, Jafari, Assadpour, et al. (2016) reported that when olive leaf phenolics were encapsulated using whey proteins, 22% of the core materials were released after 20 days of storage compared to 8.1% when pectin and whey proteins were both employed in double emulsions. When whey protein-pectin nano-emulsions containing olive leaf extract were incorporated into soybean oil, oxidative stability of olive leaf extract was enhanced (Mohammadi, Jafari, Esfanjani, et al., 2016). Niknam et al. (2020) similarly prepared W/O/W emulsions using olive mill wastewater as the core compound. After three high-energy methods (microfluidization, ultrasonication and high-speed mixing) were compared for optimization of the process, a phenolics retention of 68.6% and antioxidant activity of 89.5% was obtained.

### **1.3 Double Emulsions**

Double emulsions are multi-compartment systems composed of an emulsion dispersed as droplets in a continuous outer phase (McClements, 2012). Owing to the structure of double emulsions, there is a potential to encapsulate compounds with different solubility and antioxidant mechanisms. In this way, a synergistic effect can be obtained between two or more core compounds (W. Silva et al., 2018).

Mainly, there are two types of double emulsions; W/O/W and O/W/O. Both of these can be used for different purposes. Double emulsions, first of all, are used in controlling the release rate of functional ingredients or generating a modulated release. These constituents are then incorporated into foodstuff, and an increase in bioavailability can be achieved (Jimenez-Colmenaro, 2013). In some cases, it is possible to trigger destabilization of the interface and cause an intentional release of the encapsulated compound in response to specific triggers (Leister & Karbstein, 2020).

Other uses for double emulsions include, isolation of functional materials from other ingredients, which may slow down or prevent their chemical degradation, stabilization of labile components, and protection of these ingredients from adverse environmental conditions such as changes in pH, presence of extreme temperatures, and oxidative compounds (Gharibzahedi & Smith, 2021; Jimenez-Colmenaro, 2013; Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). It can also slow the evaporation of volatile active ingredients from the core to the surface (Quintero et al., 2018).

Moreover, they can increase consumer acceptance by masking the undesired sensory attributes such as bitter, astringent, or oxidative flavors. Formulation of healthier and more functional foods through the production of low-calorie or reduced-fat products, as well as providing healthier fatty acid profiles, can also be accomplished (Bou et al., 2014).

A variety of core materials have been encapsulated using emulsions and double emulsions. Many of these studies concentrated on the protection and delivery of phenolic compounds. A summary of these studies is given in Table 1.1. There are also studies which focused on encapsulation of microorganisms (Flores-Andrade et al., 2017; J. L. Silva et al., 2022), vitamins (Benichou et al., 2007; Bou et al., 2014; Guo et al., 2021; Matos et al., 2015), minerals (Ilyasoglu Buyukkestelli & El, 2019; Kabakci et al., 2021) and amino acids (Kocaman et al., 2020).

Encapsulated Compound	Reference
Blueberry Pomace Extract	(Bamba et al., 2018)
Olive Leaf Extract	(Jolayemi et al., 2021)
Olive Leaf Extract	(Mohammadi, Jafari, Assadpour, et al., 2016)
Olive Leaf Extract	(Mohammadi, Jafari, Esfanjani, et al., 2016)
Pomegranate Peel Extract	(Sanhueza et al., 2022)
Sour Cherry Pomace Extract	(Tumbas Šaponjac et al., 2016)
Gallic Acid and Quercetin	(W. Silva et al., 2018)
Mango Peel Extract	(Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019)

Table 1.1 Double emulsion studies on encapsulation of phenolic compounds

Due to the presence of extra layers, double or multiple emulsions are superior with respect to encapsulation, protection, and release of encapsulated compounds (Jimenez-Colmenaro, 2013). Kiokias & Varzakas (2017) emphasized that when successfully prepared, double emulsion processing can produce systems that are quite stable and well-defined with reproducible particle sizes.

Water-in-oil-in-water (W/O/W) emulsions are widely utilized in the encapsulation of hydrophilic compounds by loading them inside the internal water phase (Kanha et al., 2021). Inner and outer aqueous phases of water-in-oil-in-water emulsions frequently differ from each other with respect to concentration. Thus, W1 and W2 abbreviations are used (Leister & Karbstein, 2020). A representation of W/O/W emulsions is given in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3 Schematic representation of W/O/W Emulsions

Two different methods can be adopted in the preparation of double emulsions. In one step method, an emulsion containing a non-ionic emulsifier or multiple emulsifiers is heated, causing phase inversion and as a result, a multiple emulsion is formed (Lamba et al., 2015). In the two-step emulsification method, on the other hand, the primary emulsion is prepared using high shear under more energetic conditions, and the multiple emulsion is prepared using gentle stirring (Faridi Esfanjani et al., 2017; R. Zhang et al., 2020). Conditions employed in the preparation of the emulsion will determine the nature of the emulsion. Application of high shear during second emulsification will result in a two-phased emulsion rather than three, while lower shear will cause emulsions with large particle size and high polydispersity, which results in lower stability and efficiency (Jimenez-Colmenaro, 2013; R. Zhang et al., 2020).

The mobility of the materials between the inner and outer phase is also influenced by the oil phase, which acts as a membrane between the two aqueous phases (Bou et al., 2014). Different vegetable and mineral oils can be used as the oil phase of double emulsions. The nature of oil is also found to be effective on particle size, stability, and interfacial tension, which will have an impact on the diffusion rate of the core compound (Bonnet et al., 2009).

The main drawbacks of utilizing double emulsions in the food industry include difficulties in preparation and characterization, together with controlling the release and stability of the emulsions (Benichou et al., 2007; Dickinson, 2011; Hemar et al., 2010). Double emulsions are complex systems consisting of phases with inverse characteristics, which makes understanding the system challenging.

Furthermore, as molecules from the two emulsion phases are in direct contact with each other at the interface, repelling interfacial forces may lead to a strong tendency for the emulsion to separate into several phases (Fasinu et al., 2015). This phenomenon is especially applicable to double emulsions due to the presence of multiple thermodynamically unstable interfaces (Estrada-Fernández et al., 2018).

The ability of an emulsion to maintain its properties over time, such as size distribution, state of aggregation, or spatial arrangement of droplets, is known as stability. The stability of emulsions influences the quality and shelf life of many food items significantly (Can Karaca, 2020). The method of production, the composition of the emulsion, the nature of the oil phase, the kind of emulsifiers, and the character of the entrapped components are all factors that impact stability (Pitchaon et al., 2013).

Instability mechanisms typically present in emulsions are coalescence, gravitational separation such as creaming or sedimentation, flocculation, diffusion, Ostwald ripening, phase inversion, or phase separation (Espinosa-Álvarez et al., 2019; McClements, 2007). Frequently, these processes occur simultaneously and add to the double emulsion's total rate of instability (Dickinson, 2011). Instability due to coalescence and diffusion is generally irreversible, conversely, other mechanisms, such as creaming and agglomeration, can be reversible depending on the conditions present (Leister & Karbstein, 2020). Common instability mechanisms for emulsions are given in Figure 1.4.

Investigation and quantification of the instability can be difficult due to the complex nature of emulsions. Optical microscopy, measurement of particle size, rheology, and encapsulation efficiency are some of the methods that are being used to determine the loss of stability of emulsions during storage. Differential scanning calorimetry and observation of physical separation can also be helpful in the examination of instability (Leister & Karbstein, 2020).



Figure 1.4 Instability mechanisms in emulsions (McClements, 2015)

Thermodynamic instability caused by the concentration difference of two contrasting phases can be avoided by addition of sugars, polysaccharides, or electrolytes such as sodium chloride. By balancing the osmotic pressure between the inner and outer aqueous phases, water transfer between the two phases is minimized and emulsion coalescence and Ostwald ripening can be reduced. (Dickinson, 2011; Fasinu et al., 2015; Hemar et al., 2010). Addition of emulsifiers, stabilizers, or antioxidants and controlling the pH can also increase emulsifying capacity (J. Yang et al., 2021).

### **1.4 Double Emulsion Preparation Methods**

High-pressure homogenizers, rotor-stator systems, ultrasonic emulsification, membrane emulsification, and microfluidics are all common methods frequently used in the preparation of double emulsions (Leister & Karbstein, 2020). As for the machinery being used, mixing instruments, homogenizers, and ultrasonic equipment are commonly employed in the industry. However, in these methods, it is difficult to regulate the mean particle size (Mudrić et al., 2019).

Droplet properties of the systems are significantly affected by the homogenization method used in primary emulsion production (Altuntas et al., 2017). Additionally, high shear stress present in these methods can be problematic for heat-labile compounds as a result of the increase in temperature (Mudrić et al., 2019).

Another critical problem with high-energy homogenization treatments like micro fludization is "over-processing", which refers to the re-coalescence of small droplets as a result of a low rate of surfactant adsorption, a short resistance time with higher frequency droplet collisions, and a lack of active surfactant to cover the large surface area of newly produced droplets (Altuntas et al., 2017).

Low-energy methods such as phase inversion and spontaneous emulsification can produce emulsions with more homogeneous characteristics and the cost of equipment is lower. However, they can only be applied using a limited number of oil/surfactant combinations and require high surfactant-to-oil ratios, which reduces the industrial applicability (Y. Yang et al., 2012).

Y. Yang et al. (2012) compared the application of a high-energy method (micro fluidization) with a low-energy method (spontaneous emulsification). They commented that the amount of emulsifier needed to produce smaller droplets in the low-energy method was the main disadvantage due to safety concerns and the high cost of emulsifiers. In their research, Ravanfar et al. (2018) found that microfluidics was also promising in emulsions formation. With layer-by-layer deposition, researchers were able to monitor the process closely during micro fluidization. Researchers commented that having control over and being able to regulate the process was an advantage of this method.

In conclusion, to prepare emulsions with the desired characteristics, homogenization conditions must be carefully controlled, which is hard to achieve in double emulsions due to a large number of parameters.

### 1.4.1 High-Speed Homogenization

A method frequently employed in the processing of emulsions is high-speed shear homogenization. In high-speed homogenization, a high rotating speed is applied by the agitator, which flows the suspensions and creates a significant shearing force resulting in samples with small particle sizes (Zhou et al., 2019). Guerra-Rosas et al. (2016) recognized that it was critical to have smaller droplets in the W1/O emulsion for increased stability due to decreased impact of gravity and Brownian motion. In some cases, researchers observed that high-speed homogenization can alter physiochemical characteristics by increasing the solubility of biopolymers in the solution and decreasing average particle size (Muhoza et al., 2022).

Conventional methods such as high-speed mixing or high-pressure homogenization generally produce emulsions that are more polydisperse and heterogeneous. Altuntas et al. (2017) observed that high-speed homogenization produced
emulsions with smaller particle size compared to ultrasonication and micro fluidization. Researchers also observed higher stability in emulsions with smaller particle size. However, the polydispersity of emulsions increased significantly when high-speed homogenization was used as compared to both methods. Dickinson (2011) underlined that the amount of polydispersity affects both the inner and outer droplets causing an increase in the degree of uncertainty in the characterization of the particle size distribution.

Moreover, Trujillo-Cayado et al. (2017) investigated the effect of using different rotor-stator equipment and a high-pressure homogenizer in preparation of green emulsifiers. Larger droplets were obtained with the high-pressure device, which resulted in lower stability. Emulsions obtained with rotor stator devices were more stable than the high-pressure samples, and both exhibited a similar destabilization mechanism. In contrast, Zhou et al. (2022) observed that emulsions prepared using high-speed homogenization had less stability than those prepared with ultrasonication using the same amount of power. It was demonstrated that performance is related to not only the method being used but also the parameters of homogenization.

## 1.4.2 Ultrasonication

Ultrasonication is a straightforward and inexpensive unit operation that can create small droplets with a narrow particle size distribution (Jafari et al., 2007). In ultrasound emulsification, the sonicator probe produces mechanical vibrations and leads to cavitation. Cavitation is the reason behind the production of emulsions using ultrasonication (Altuntas et al., 2017). As the ultrasonic vibrations pass through the medium, cavitation bubbles are produced. The sonication bubbles expand until they reach a critical size and then collapse violently, which can generate extreme pressure and temperatures as well as alter the physical, chemical, and thermal properties of the emulsion (Zhou et al., 2021).

In addition, application of ultrasound creates interfacial waves. These waves are unstable and cause the oil phase to disperse into the continuous aqueous phase. Besides, proteins can partially unfold and denature as a result of the high shear and temperatures produced by the ultrasonic process. As a result, the stabilization of interfaces can be enhanced (Gharehbeglou et al., 2019).

Ultrasonication is advantageous since it uses lower energy with shorter processing times. Shorter processing also limits the contact of the oil with the environment and limits oxidation to a certain extent. Kinetically stable emulsions with smaller particle sizes could be obtained. Due to the high efficiency of ultrasonication, it is labeled as a 'green technology' (Nishad et al., 2021). Cleaning of the equipment is also easier compared to other types of homogenization methods (Vélez-Erazo et al., 2018).

Nevertheless, in some cases, an increase in ultrasonication duration may lead to an increase in span values and diameter of the particles. This is due to 'overprocessing' of emulsions. As a result of excessive homogenization, globules of the dispersed phase are disrupted, and re-coalescence of droplets may occur (Kentish et al., 2008). As acoustic cavitation increases the emulsion temperature, proteins may be denatured during processing (Vélez-Erazo et al., 2018). Another reason for this phenomenon is that the rate of formation for droplets may be greater than the rate of protein adsorption, causing inadequate coverage of the interface (Jafari et al., 2008). Likewise, the amount of emulsifier might not be enough to cover the surface of newly forming droplets, causing coalescence and expansion of droplets (Vélez-Erazo et al., 2018).

Ultrasonication was used as a method to encapsulate oleuropein using nanoemulsions. Using pectin-whey protein concentrate complexes as stabilizers, researchers obtained an encapsulation efficiency of 91% for optimum conditions for encapsulation (Gharehbeglou et al., 2019). Ye et al. (2016) used ultrasonication as an approach to increase the solubility of the insoluble fraction of pea proteins. Tetradecane was chosen as the core material, and microspheres were fabricated by applying high-intensity ultrasound irradiation. The intensity and duration of the ultrasonication step were effective on properties such as solubility and surface activity of pea proteins which in return influenced shell thickness. Researchers debated that tetradecane can be easily replaced with other functional liquids in future studies.

Al-Maqtari et al. (2021) and Nishad et al. (2021) demonstrated ultrasonication treatment for encapsulation of phenolic-rich extracts, while Pattnaik & Mishra (2022) produced double emulsions for encapsulation of A, D, B<sub>9</sub>, and B<sub>12</sub> vitamins. Other applications include fabrication of cheddar cheese analogs (Leong et al., 2020) and skimmed milk (Leong et al., 2018) using double emulsion method with canola and sunflower oil as the middle phase.

## 1.5 Emulsifiers

The term "emulsifier" refers to amphiphilic surface-active molecules that reduce surface tension, which are naturally present attractive forces. They interact with both dispersed and continuous phases of the emulsion and minimize the attraction between the molecules of the same liquid as well as the repelling force between the liquids (Kale & Deore, 2017). The physical properties of emulsion, as well as its encapsulation efficiency and stability throughout storage, are affected by emulsifiers being used.

The choice of surfactant relies on the type of emulsion that is being fabricated. Oilin-water emulsions are typically made using hydrophilic surfactants and water-inoil emulsions with lipophilic surfactants (Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Hydrophilic-lipophilic balance (HLB) value is crucial for choosing a suitable emulsifier. Hydrophilic surfactants have high HLB values (8-18), while lipophilic surfactants tend to have lower HLB values (4-6) (Ohadi et al., 2020).

In double emulsions, two different interfaces are present. Consequently, two separate emulsifying agents with different natures, one to stabilize the inner droplets and another to stabilize the droplets of the secondary emulsion, will be needed.

Current knowledge about emulsifiers for conventional simple emulsions cannot be directly adapted to double emulsions. In double emulsions, two separate water phases are linked to the same oil phase; hence, water molecules can diffuse from one aqueous phase to the other. Likewise, in these systems, water molecules, emulsifiers of two different types, and active core material interact with each other making the system more complex to characterize (Leister & Karbstein, 2020).

Theoretically, in double emulsions, lipophilic emulsifier is found in the inner interface, while hydrophilic one is present in the outer aqueous layer and these compounds do not interact or affect each other's efficiency. However, emulsifiers are amphiphilic and they tend to interact with both phases of the emulsions at varying degrees (Leister & Karbstein, 2020). Thus, the actual stability of the emulsion differs from the theoretical one.

Some examples of the materials used as surfactants in foods are acyl lactylates, dioctyl sodium sulfosuccinate, propylene glycol monosucrose and sorbitan esters (Adeyi et al., 2019). Polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) is one of the emulsifiers used in this study. Due to its efficiency and stability, PGPR is one of the most prominent lipophilic surfactants utilized in W1/O emulsions (Andrade & Corredig, 2016; Kocaman et al., 2020). It is classified as GRAS (generally recognized as safe) by US Food and Drug Administration (Polyglycerol Polyricinoleate, 2009). However, addition of PGPR in food products can cause an unpleasant taste when its concentration exceeds 5% (Jimenez-Colmenaro, 2013; Zhang et al., 2020). Lecithin, on the other hand, is a natural emulsifier that has a wide range of applications in the industry. Its usage is not regulated since good manufacturing practices are used to determine the maximum level (General Standard For Food Additives, 1995). Lecithin cannot produce W/O type emulsion when it is used individually. However, when combined with a strong lipophilic surfactant, it enhances rather than limits the lipophilic surfactant's functionality (Altuntas et al.,

2017). It is therefore used together with PGPR as a lipophilic surfactant in our study.

Estrada-Fernández et al. (2018) accentuated that, due to regulations and customer demands, there is a limited selection of emulsifiers that can be used in the formulation of double emulsions that are intended for direct human consumption, making their development challenging. There is growing interest in natural emulsifiers that can substitute synthetic ones entirely or partly. Natural emulsifiers are preferred over their safety, low cost, and high availability (Fasinu et al., 2015).

Dickinson (2011) emphasized that using food-grade emulsifiers instead of synthetic polymeric stabilizing agents and small-molecule emulsifiers will facilitate the development of stable double emulsions for use in food. Inherently, many researchers recognized the possibility of using legumes as natural emulsifiers for the production of stable emulsions.

### 1.5.1 Use of Legumes as Emulsifiers

Legumes belong to the family Fabaceae or Leguminosae and are seeds of these plants (Felix et al., 2018; R. Yang et al., 2021). Well-known legumes include soybeans, peas, chickpeas, lentils, and other various types of beans. They provide a diverse nutritional profile as they are abundant in carbohydrates, protein, dietary fiber, vitamins, and minerals, along with phytochemicals (Han & Baik, 2008; Ren et al., 2021). Legumes provide almost 20% protein by weight, which is comparable to meat in terms of protein content (Felix et al., 2018). Besides, legumes are known to have a low glycemic index. Consequently, another motivation to include legume flour as an ingredient in newly formulated products includes a decrease in fluctuations in blood sugar due to slower glucose release (Z. H. Lu et al., 2018).

It is becoming more important to create healthful foods from underutilized, sustainable sources as a result of expected demographic and environmental changes (Raikos et al., 2014). Main motivation for the use of plant proteins over animal

proteins is due to the agricultural aspects and biodiversity preservation (Vasilean et al., 2018).

As production of plant proteins entails less consumption of natural resources, and they are considered "environmentally economic" (Quintero et al., 2018). Moreover, designing and developing foods with added health benefits necessitates strategies for optimizing the presence of such substances, either by increasing the proportion of those with beneficial effects or by limiting the content of others with negative health implications (Jimenez-Colmenaro, 2013). Legume proteins are typically added to the formulation of various food products with significant customer acceptance (Gharibzahedi & Smith, 2021).

Physical chemistry characteristics, referred to as functional qualities, have an impact on how proteins behave during preparation, processing, and consumption (Dulger Altıner & Hallaç, 2017). The growing interest in using legumes in the industry is also a result of their functional properties, such as water holding, fat absorption, gelling, swelling, pasting, and foaming abilities, among others, which play an important role in new product development (Ashraf et al., 2012; Fasinu et al., 2015; Gharibzahedi & Smith, 2021).

Since proteins bind both water and oil at the same time, their function as emulsifiers in food processing is also well known (Ashraf et al., 2012). Proteins in legume flours prevent coagulation of particles as they form a flexible film layer and decrease interfacial tension, subsequently increasing stability (Can Karaca, 2020; Mohammadi, Jafari, Assadpour, et al., 2016). Thus, research has increasingly focused on the use of unique structures of these proteins as carriers or vehicles for the binding, encapsulation, and delivery of bioactive substances (R. Yang et al., 2021).

The production and stability of emulsions depend on the denaturation and partial unfolding of protein molecules and their adsorption at the interface with the proper hydrophobic and hydrophilic orientation (Raikos et al., 2014). As a result, the degree of denaturation has an impact on the microstructure of the emulsions.

Dapueto et al. (2019) investigated the effect of denaturation of whey proteins on the physical characteristics of emulsions.

Researchers commented that the adsorption process at the oil-water interface is dominated by the native protein fraction, and the denatured/aggregated fraction provides the appropriate apparent viscosity for stabilizing emulsions. Bigger particle size was obtained when native protein ratio was less than 70%.

According to Pereira Souza et al. (2017), good water solubility, low viscosity, and a strong ability to maintain active solutions are the most crucial inherent properties of carriers for water-soluble bio-actives. Although 100% solubility is not a definite requirement, protein solubility plays a significant impact in the emulsifying characteristics (Liang & Tang, 2013). In some cases, their poor water solubility and increased emulsion viscosity at high solid concentrations may limit the application of legume flours (Gharibzahedi & Smith, 2021).

Furthermore, due to their hydrophilic nature, polysaccharides are rarely absorbed in the interface (McClements, 2012; Porfiri et al., 2017). This drawback can be addressed by using them together with other biopolymers (R. Zhang et al., 2020). Nonetheless, for rheological regulation of the continuous aqueous phase in O/W emulsions, it is usual practice to incorporate polysaccharides at low concentrations as thickening and gelling agents, which is also a common practice for double emulsions (Dickinson, 2011).

Polysaccharides may increase the stability of the emulsion through reducing gravitational separation due to increased emulsion viscosity (Dapueto et al., 2019). They can also offer increased resistance to the protease and gastric juice environment compared to proteins and other surfactants. It was observed that, compared to emulsions stabilized by protein alone, those stabilized by both protein and polysaccharides exhibit greater resistance to environmental effects through simultaneous stabilization provided by different compounds (Estrada-Fernández et al., 2018; R. Zhang et al., 2020).

Modification treatments such as heating, germination or soaking can also modify the protein and starches, increasing their hydrophobicity which affects their functionality. These treatments can also improve the nutritional properties of legume flours by eliminating anti-nutritional substances (Dapueto et al., 2019; R. Zhang et al., 2020). Food processing technologies such as high-pressure homogenization and hydrolysis can also change the structure and enhance the properties of legume proteins (R. Yang et al., 2021).

Moreover, lipid peroxidation is one of the main issues with emulsions; therefore, emulsifying the protein sources in their natural matrices with bioactive substances is an interesting substitute for synthetic antioxidants in overcoming free radicals by acting as scavengers (Vasilean et al., 2018). Furthermore, metal ions are chelated by phenolic compounds present in the flours, which reduces oxidation and promotes the use of legume flours as whole (Han & Baik, 2008).

Sridharan et al. (2020) investigated the necessity of legume protein purification for use as an emulsifier. The similarity between the interfacial tension profiles of concentrated pea protein and pea flour suggested that proteins are the main factors stabilizing the interface. Pea protein and pea flour emulsions also had similar rheological behavior, aggregate size, and particle size. The elastic nature of the interface is not affected by the absence or presence of starch. It was also demonstrated that the inclusion of non-protein material had no effect on the emulsification ability of proteins. Their findings indicated that legume flours, such as pea flour, may be employed in their natural form to create stable emulsions and that non-protein components have no detrimental effects on functionality.

Separation of proteins from the biopolymers that they coexist with requires complex purification techniques as well as careful adjustment of extraction conditions and solvents (Sridharan et al., 2020). The procedures involved in protein purification also cost energy and result in mass losses due to inefficient use of raw materials by only using part of the plant. As a result, they contradict the sustainability value of plant-based materials (X. Li et al., 2021).

The complexity of plant materials is also a drawback for the preparation of protein isolates and concentrates (Sridharan et al., 2020). Solubility, molecular weight and structure, charge density, and emulsifying properties of proteins are all altered by the extraction process (Muhoza et al., 2022). Li et al. (2021) also explained that the low solubility and functionality of commercial protein isolates from major plant protein sources, is due, at least in part, to current plant protein purification methods, which result in a high degree of protein denaturation and aggregation.

W/O/W emulsions were prepared for the encapsulation of magnesium using different concentrations of unpurified pea and lentil flours. Using high-speed homogenization and ultrasonication, encapsulation efficiencies as high as 99% were achieved. Ultrasonication treatment was effective in reducing the particle size of emulsions and increasing stability. Double emulsions were then used for the fortification of cakes and the stability of magnesium increased compared to the primary emulsion when both types of legume flours were used (Kabakci et al., 2021).

Furthermore, Fasinu et al. (2015) found that Bambara groundnut flour has demonstrated emulsifying potential and contains a balanced amount of protein and carbohydrates. When Bambara groundnut flour and starch-stabilized emulsions were compared, flours provided superior stability. Moreover, additional nutrients were included in the emulsion as a result of its use in emulsification.

Adeyi et al. (2014) likewise observed that Bambara groundnut flour can be successfully used as the outer phase of oil in water emulsions thanks to its thixotropic, pseudoplastic and viscoelastic structure after gelatinization. Furthermore, soy and pea flours were used in the production of core-shell microcapsules. Researchers concluded that advanced microstructures can be made sustainably starting with unmodified materials and resource-intensive purification of plant biopolymers is not necessary (X. Li et al., 2021).

### 1.5.2 Pea flour

Pea proteins are the second most sought-after legume protein after soy. According to Han & Baik (2008), yellow peas have 24.5 g of protein, 1.1 g of lipid, 53.3 g of starch, and 2.9 g of ash per 100 g dry weight. Lysine content in peas is also significant for addressing the necessary amino acid deficit in diets (Kurt & Ceylan, 2018). Pea proteins are favored over other proteins as they are more digestible and provide a clean label for the product (Ge et al., 2020). They are less allergenic and can be consumed by people with gluten sensitivity (Z. H. Lu et al., 2018). Being widely available, economically feasible, biodegradable, and biocompatible with a variety of active substances, pea flours are good substitutes for synthetic emulsifiers (Raikos et al., 2014; R. Yang et al., 2021).

Protein components of foods, in most cases, are the main factors influencing functional qualities (Boye et al., 2010). Proteins found in peas can be generally classified as vicillin (7S), legumin (11S), and albumins (2S), with 7S and 11S being the most prevalent (Kurt & Ceylan, 2018). Water-insoluble globulin fraction makes up 70-90% of the total proteins, while albumin fraction, which is water-soluble, makes up 10-30% (Muhoza et al., 2022; Ye et al., 2016).

The hydrophobic surface stabilized by the trimeric 7S globulin is linked to the low solubility of globulins in water. On the other hand, hydrophilic surface of albumin, which is made up of two polypeptides joined together by disulfide bonds, has high solubility in water. One of the critical factors that determine how well proteins function as emulsifiers is thought to be the ratio of polar to non-polar groups within the protein structure (Vasilean et al., 2018). This ratio depends mainly on the type of legume and the extraction process (Muhoza et al., 2022). Concisely, the physical qualities of the flour are substantially affected by the ratio and type of proteins.

There is plenty of research on pea protein and flours regarding their emulsifying ability using different homogenization methods. The change in their emulsifying ability after application of different treatments such as pH, heat application, and pressure was also investigated. The ability of pea proteins to stabilize emulsions was demonstrated by Can Karaca (2020). Varying concentrations of maltodextrin, gum Arabic, and pea protein were used as stabilizers in oil-in-water emulsions. As a result, smaller droplets with increasing stability were obtained with low oil concentrations.

Additionally, pea proteins combined with other polysaccharides were used in the encapsulation of essential oils obtained from hyssop and hemp (Hadidi et al., 2022; Lan et al., 2021). Encapsulation of hydrophilic compounds such as lutein and cinnamaldehyde was also accomplished using wall materials derived from pea (Caballero & Davidov-Pardo, 2021; Feng et al., 2022).

The functionality of food compounds is affected by a variety of factors including interactions with other food components, composition, pH, ionic strength, heat treatment, and other external conditions, in addition to intrinsic features such as molecule size and structure (Felix et al., 2018; Raikos et al., 2014).

Production of emulsions is facilitated by either an acidic or an alkaline pH, whereas in the presence of neutral pH, a very low emulsifying capacity is observed. This clearly indicates the importance isoelectric point of the protein in emulsion formation (Ashraf et al., 2012). Acevedo et al. (2017) and Felix et al. (2018) also observed higher protein solubility at alkaline pH values, which is further away from the isoelectric point. Such improved emulsifying abilities at an alkaline pH may result from dissociation and partial unfolding of globular proteins. As a result, hydrophobic amino acid residues are exposed, which changes the surface activity and adsorption behavior (Raikos et al., 2014).

### 1.6 **Objective of the Study**

Olive leaf extract is one of the by-products of table olive and olive oil production. Ordinarily, the leaves of the olive tree are carried to the factory and do not possess any economic importance to the producer. These leaves are known to possess antimicrobial and antioxidant activity in addition to their many health-promoting properties. Thus, phenolic compounds can be extracted from the leaves and used in the production of functional products. On the other hand, phenolic compounds are prone to degradation in the presence of adverse environmental conditions. They can also produce off tastes and flavors when they are directly added to the food products or consumed directly.

Encapsulation of these compounds can increase the stability of these healthpromoting substances while decreasing the formation of unwanted sensorial properties. The main objective of this study is to encapsulate the olive leaf extract using double emulsion method. One of the desired results was to provide controlled release whilst protecting the coated olive leaf extract against adverse environmental conditions. Since they have an extra layer, double emulsions provide better protection to the encapsulated compound.

Pea flour was used for the stabilization of the outer aqueous phase of the emulsions. Double emulsions are expected to show superior protective behavior compared to primary emulsions and higher stability compared to unencapsulated olive leaf extract. The effect of increasing flour concentration and ultrasonication process on the stability and physical properties of emulsions were also investigated in this thesis. There is a very limited number of publications in the literature on encapsulation of olive leaf phenolics, but none of these research papers employed legume flours as emulsifiers for double emulsions.

### **CHAPTER 2**

### **MATERIALS & METHODS**

## 2.1 Materials

Olive leaf extract, the core material for this study, was supplied by Immunat Herbal Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Muğla, Turkey). Sunflower oil (Yudum Food Ind. Trade Inc., Balıkesir, Turkey) for the oil phase of double emulsions was purchased from a local market. Pea flour was obtained from Molar Chemical Trading Co. Inc. (Turkey). The composition of the flour was 55.3% carbohydrate, 21% protein, and 1.6% fat. Lipophilic surfactants, PGPR and lecithin, were supplied from Eti Food Ind. Trade Inc (Eskişehir, Turkey) and Lipoid Gmbh (Ludwigshafen, Germany), respectively.

Other reagents used in the study (ethanol, gallic acid, Folin-Ciaocalteu reagent, sodium carbonate, NaCl) were analytical grade and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Lastly, sodium azide, which was used as an antimicrobial agent, was purchased from Sigma Aldrich Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA).

# 2.2 Preparation of Double Emulsions

Two-step emulsification, the most frequently used method for fabricating double emulsions, was used in the preparation of double emulsions. In accordance with this method, first, the W/O primary emulsion is produced using higher shear forces. Then, the primary emulsion is combined with the other aqueous phase for the preparation of W/O/W emulsion. The inner aqueous phase of the emulsion is named as W1, while the outer aqueous phase is named W2.

An illustration of the two-step emulsion technique followed during double emulsion preparation is given in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1 Two-step emulsification technique (van der Graaf et al., 2005)

### 2.2.1 W1/O (Primary) Emulsion Preparation

For the preparation of the inner aqueous phase, OLE (30 g/100 g W1), sodium azide (0.05 g NaN3/100 g W1), and sodium chloride (0.6 g/100 g W1) were mixed with distilled water using a magnetic stirrer for 15 min at 300 rpm (Daihan Scientific, South Korea). NaCl was used to maintain the osmotic balance between the two aqueous phases. NaCl is effective in decreasing the interfacial tension together with the emulsifiers and enhancing the stability of emulsions.

Chemical antimicrobial preservatives are added to many types of food emulsions to prevent spoilage during storage and assure consumer safety. In preliminary experiments, it was determined that an antimicrobial agent, sodium azide, was needed for long-term stability experiments to prevent microbial spoilage of the emulsions during storage at higher temperatures.

PGPR and lecithin were used as lipophilic emulsifiers. For the preparation of oil phase (O); PGPR (2.5 g/100 g O), lecithin (2.5 g/100 g O), and sunflower oil (95 g/100 g O) were first homogenized using a high-speed homogenizer at 10000 rpm for 1 min (IKA T25 Ultra-turrax, IKA Works Co., Malaysia).



Figure 2.2 Preparation of Primary Emulsion Using High-Speed Homogenization (Prepared with BioRender.com)

After the mixing of emulsifiers with sunflower oil, the mixture was left in a 50°C water bath (Mikrotest MCS 30, Ankara, Turkey) for 15 min. While heating, the mixture was also stirred at 50 rpm. Heating of the oil phase and stirring during the heating procedure was performed to increase the solubility of the emulsifiers inside the oil phase.

Primary emulsion was then prepared using a high-speed homogenizer. The ratio of the W1 phase to the oil phase for the primary emulsion was selected as 40% to 60%, as it was determined as the optimum ratio (Altuntas et al., 2017). First, the oil phase was mixed at 15 000 rpm for 30 s; then the W1 phase was added into the oil phase while stirring for 6 min. Lastly, the mixture was stirred for 30 s at the same stirring speed. The method used for the preparation of primary emulsions with high-speed homogenization is given in Figure 2.2.

Samples with ultrasonication application were prepared by first forming the emulsion using high-speed homogenization using the same parameters; then, samples were treated with an ultrasonic homogenizer (OMNI, Sonic Ruptor 400, GA, US) at 80 W power, 20 kHz frequency, and 50% pulse for 20 min. Ultrasonication parameters were selected based on the preliminary experiments. During the application of ultrasonication, emulsions were kept inside an ice bath to prevent emulsions from being heated.

## 2.2.2 W1/O/W2 (Double) Emulsion Preparation

To prepare the outer aqueous phase of the emulsions, different amount of pea flour was added to distilled water. For the preparation of samples with 15% flour, 15 g of pea flour was weighed, and distilled water was added until the weight of the beaker reached 100 g. Likewise, 20 g and 25 g of flour were mixed with distilled water to obtain 100 g of W2 when preparing samples with 20% and 25% flour. NaCl (0.6

g/100 g W2) was also added to balance the osmotic pressure with the inner phase. After dissolving the pea flour and NaCl in water, the solution was mixed using a high-speed homogenizer at 9500 rpm for 30 s.

The pH of the solutions was adjusted to 12 by adding 2 M NaOH to ensure higher solubility of pea flour in water and to obtain solutions with higher viscosity. It was demonstrated that pea proteins showed better solubility and thus emulsifying ability in pH values further from their isoelectric point (Liang & Tang, 2013). While adjusting the pH, solutions were mixed using a magnetic stirrer to measure the pH correctly.



Figure 2.3 Preparation of Double W1/O/W2 Emulsion (Prepared with BioRender)

After the pH adjustment, flour solutions were heated to 75°C using a water bath. The water bath was adjusted to 85°C, and continuous shaking at 50 rpm was applied during the heating procedure. Solutions were cooled to 45-50°C at room temperature before the preparation of double emulsion.

Subsequently, flour mixtures were added inside the mixing bowl of the home-type food processor (Arçelik K-1190, Turkey). The ratio of primary emulsion to the outer aqueous phase (W2) phase was again selected as 40% to 60%. Flour solutions were mixed for 1 min at 600 rpm. Then, primary emulsion was added drop by drop while mixing of the outer phase took place for 7 min at 800 rpm. Newly prepared W/O/W emulsions were mixed for an additional 2 min at 600 rpm using the food processor. After 5 min, emulsions were filled into 50 mL falcon tubes and stored at 20°C for further analyses. The method used to prepare W/O/W double emulsions is given in Figure 2.3.

## 2.3 Characterization of Emulsions

Characterization of the emulsions requires the determination of rheological and morphological properties besides stability, release behavior and encapsulation efficiency (R. Zhang et al., 2020). In this study, particle size, rheology, encapsulation efficiency, stability, and optical images of the prepared emulsions were examined.

### 2.3.1 Dilution Test

The dilution test is a simple test to evaluate the type of the outer phase of the emulsion (Saikia & Sultan, 2020). In this test, two beakers were filled with water

and sunflower oil. Then, a few drops of the prepared emulsion was dropped inside these two beakers. Based on the miscibility of the dropped emulsion, it is possible to determine the characteristics of the emulsion.

If the emulsion is W/O as expected, the emulsion will dissolve in oil and will remain insoluble when dropped into water. On the other hand, final double emulsions were expected to be insoluble in oil and soluble in water due to the outer aqueous phase. Dilution test was used, particularly in the earlier part of the experiments, to confirm if the correct type of emulsion was being prepared after the treatments.

### 2.3.2 Stability of Emulsions

Stability is the capacity of emulsion to withstand changes in its characteristics. It is one of the most significant emulsion characteristics and often determines the shelf life of the emulsion (Adeyi et al., 2019). In this study, two types of stability were tested; instant stability and long-term stability.

#### 2.3.2.1 Instant Stability

As long-term stability tests are typically time-consuming, accelerated stability or instant stability tests can be performed to gain insight into the stability of emulsions prior to long-term storage (Kale & Deore, 2017). Centrifugation is commonly used as a way for testing accelerated phase separation (Mudrić et al., 2019). For the instant stability test, 15 mL centrifuge tubes were filled with the newly formed emulsion and sealed with plastic caps. The height of the emulsions was measured prior to testing. Tubes were placed in the centrifuge (Hanil Scientific Inc., MF-80, Korea) and centrifuged for 10 min at 3000 rpm.

The height of the supernatant was measured after centrifugation for the calculation of instant stability. Experiments were performed as duplicates.

Instant Stability (%) = 
$$\left(\frac{h_s}{h_o}\right) x \, 100$$
 (Equation 1)

In Equation (1),  $h_s$  is the height (cm) of the upper part of the centrifuged emulsion (supernatant) after centrifugation and  $h_o$  is the initial height (cm) of the sample in the tube.

### 2.3.2.2 Long-Term Stability

For quantification of long-term stability, glass tubes were filled with emulsions and stored for longer periods of time. Two tubes were kept at room temperature ( $20^{\circ}$ C) and two were placed in the refrigerator ( $4^{\circ}$ C). The height of the emulsions was measured before storage. After preparation, the separated part of the emulsions was recorded after 3 days and once every week after the first measurement. The long-term stability of the emulsions at the predefined day of storage was found using Equation (2);

Storage Stability (%) = 
$$\left(\frac{h_c}{h_o}\right) x \ 100$$
 (Equation 2)

where  $h_c$  is the height of the total separated phase (cm), and  $h_o$  is the initial height of the emulsion (cm) before the storage period.

### 2.3.3 Particle Size Analysis

A laser diffraction particle size analyzer (Mastersizer 3000, Malvern Instruments, UK) was used in evaluation of mean particle size and size distribution of oil droplets of double emulsions. Laser diffraction measures the change in intensity of light scattered as the laser beam passes inside the sample. Then scattering patterns were analyzed for the calculation of particle sizes which is based on Mie theory of light scattering. Particle size analyzer was equipped with a wet dispersion unit (Hydro EV, Malvern Instruments, UK).

Beaker was filled with water which is the continuous phase of emulsions. Refractive index for the dispersant and the dispersed phase were selected as 1.33 and 1.46, respectively, considering the dispersant is water and the dispersed phase is sunflower oil. Globule absorbance was taken as 0.01. Obscuration limits for the instrument was in the range of 8% to 20%. Moreover, stirring speed was kept below 2000 rpm to prevent the emulsion droplets from disintegrating.

The surface moment mean diameter  $(D_{3,2})$ , volume moment mean diameter  $(D_{4,3})$ and span of the particles were calculated by the software of the particle size analyzer. Two separate measurements were taken from each sample. Samples were thoroughly mixed before sampling.

$$D_{3,2} = \frac{\sum n_i d_i^3}{\sum n_i d_i^2}$$
(Equation 3)

$$D_{4,3} = \frac{\sum n_i d_i^4}{\sum n_i d_i^3}$$
(Equation 4)

Where,  $n_i$  is the number of related particles per unit volume and  $d_i$  is the diameter of the particles.

Span values were also calculated by the software using Equation (5),

$$Span = \frac{d(90) - d(10)}{d(50)}$$
 (Equation 5)

Where, d(10), d(50) and d(90) corresponds to the diameter of particles that are inside the range of 10, 50, and 90%, respectively.

## 2.3.4 Rheology

Rheological measurements were done using Brookfield RST viscometer (Ametek Inc., Massachusetts, USA) fit with a bob and cup spindle (CCT-25). Approximately 15 g of double emulsion sample was filled inside the chamber of the rheometer. Rheological measurements were carried out 2 h after the preparation of emulsions at 20°C. Measurements were taken as duplicates. Shear stress data were measured as the shear rate was increased from 0.1 to 150 s<sup>-1</sup>. Rheo3000 software (Ametek Inc., Massachusetts, USA) was used for the calculation of apparent viscosity from the shear rate data.

The flow behavior of the samples were evaluated by fitting shear stress ( $\tau$ ) data and shear rate ( $\gamma$ ) data to Power law model:

 $\tau = K \dot{\gamma}^n$ 

(Equation 6)

Where,  $\gamma$  is the shear rate (1/s),  $\tau$  is the shear stress (Pa), *n* is the flow behavior index (dimensionless) and *K* is the consistency coefficient (Pa.s). Apparent viscosity of samples was evaluated at 150 s<sup>-1</sup>.

### 2.3.5 Optical Imaging

A light microscope was employed for the inspection of the morphological characteristics of double emulsions. A preliminary examination showed that the emulsions needed dilution in prior to obtain a clear image from the microscope. Therefore, samples were diluted (1:5) with distilled water and vortexed (ZX3, VELP Scientifica, Italy). Diluted solutions were spread as a thin layer on the glass slide and covered with a cover slip. Slide was then fixed on the inverted light microscope (PrimoVert, Zeiss, Germany) and examined.

TopView software (SPECwise, Inc., FL, USA) was utilized to analyze the images taken using Sony CCD Digital Video Microscope Camera (Tokyo, Japan). Images were obtained using lenses providing 10× and 40× magnification.

### 2.3.6 Encapsulation Efficiency

Encapsulation efficiency is one of the main parameters in defining the success of emulsions. In double emulsions, it is defined as the amount of the core material that is still contained inside the primary part of the emulsion after the second emulsification step (Dickinson, 2011).

$$EE (\%) = \frac{TPC_{DE} - TPC_{W2,c}}{TPC_{DE}} \times 100$$
 (Equation 7)

Where, EE (%) is the encapsulation efficiency,  $TPC_{DE}$  is the total phenolic content of the extract added to the inner phase,  $TPC_{W2}$  is the phenolic content of outer aqueous phase which was separated through centrifugation and filtration. The method followed for the separation of the outer phase is given in 2.3.6.1.

$$TPC_{W2,c} = TPC_{W2} - TPC_{W2,0}$$

(Equation 8)

Phenolic content of the pea flour also needs to be considered when calculating the total phenolic content of the W2 phase. Double emulsions were prepared without the core material were produced and their phenolic content ( $TPC_{W2,0}$ ) was subtracted from the phenolic content of samples. In Equation (8), the resulting phenolic content was named as corrected TPC ( $TPC_{W2,c}$ ).

### 2.3.6.1 Recovery of the W2 Phase/Sample Preparation

For the TPC analysis, W2 phase of the emulsions needs to be separated. Two hours after preparation, emulsions were diluted with distilled water with a dilution rate of 1:2 w/w. Dilution procedure was performed while mixing with a magnetic stirrer at 200 rpm for 5 min. Samples were then put into 50 ml centrifuge tubes and centrifuged (Nuve NF-1200R, Turkey) for 15 min at 2000 rpm. The first step of the centrifugation was done to gently separate the W2 phase without disrupting the primary emulsion.

After the first centrifugation, W2 phase, which is the infranatant part, it is drawn into a syringe and transferred to a 15 mL centrifuge tube. Subsequently, another centrifugation step was carried out to remove the remaining oil particles and flour particles. In the second step, samples were centrifuged for 15 min at 8000 rpm. The clear part of the infranatant was passed through filter paper (Whatman, No 4) and

then through PTFE 0.45  $\mu$ m syringe filter. Filtered samples were kept at -18 until measurement of TPC.

TPC was analyzed using the method in 2.3.6.2. The process followed for separation of W2 phase is given in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4 Separation of W2 phase for TPC analysis (Prepared with BioRender.com)

### 2.3.6.2 Phenolic Content Analysis

Total phenolic content (TPC) analysis was performed using modified version of Folin-Ciacalteou method (Cilek et al., 2012). Samples were diluted using ethanol:water mixture (50:50 v/v) as the dilutent and 500  $\mu$ L of sample was added to a test tube. Then, 2.5 mL of Folin-Ciocalteuau reagent (0.2 N) was added and the mixture was vortexed. After it is kept in a dark place for 5 min, 2 mL of sodium carbonate (75 g/L) was added which was followed by vortexing.

Samples were left in the dark at room temperature for 1 hour. Then, absorbance of the samples was read at 760 nm using UV/VIS spectrometer (Mapada Instruments Co. Ltd., V1800, Shanghai).

Gallic acid was dissolved in the same solvent with the samples (10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100 mg/L) and was used as a standard for the preparation of the calibration curve. Phenolic content of samples was expressed as Gallic acid equivalents using the following linear equation;

$$A = 0.1 x C + 0.0231$$
,  $R^2 = 0.9979$  (Equation 9)

In Equation (9), A is the absorbance of the sample at 760 nm and C is the concentration of Gallic Acid. The calibration curve was given in Appendix A. TPC results of the samples were expressed as gallic acid equivalents in mg per g.

### 2.3.7 Release of Olive Leaf Extract

After completing the analyses for the characterization of samples, the release of olive leaf extract in emulsions prepared with high-speed homogenization and 25% pea flour was investigated as these conditions were found as the optimum parameters. Emulsions were prepared using the same method explained in 2.2.1 and 2.2.2. Two replicates of the emulsion were prepared and stored at 37°C for 13 days in plastic vials.

The first sample was taken 24 h after the preparation of emulsions. After the first day, sampling was done on day 4, day 7, day 10, and day 13. Before emulsion samples were taken, vials were first taken outside the heater for the temperature of the sample to reach room temperature as it might affect the diffusion of phenolic compounds to the solvent used in TPC analysis.

The double emulsion inside the vial was mixed thoroughly to ensure the homogenization of the sample. Samples were then diluted with distilled water with a dilution rate of 1:2 w/w. Recovery of the W2 phase from the emulsions was performed using the method in 2.3.6.1.

Recovered samples were stored at -18 until the end of the storage period. Samples were then thawed at room temperature in the dark, and TPC analysis was conducted using the same method in 2.3.6.2. The cumulative release (%) of the emulsions was calculated using Equation (10).

$$Release (\%) = \frac{TPC_{W2,c}}{TPC_{DE}} \times 100$$
(Equation 10)

where,  $TPC_{W2,c}$  is the corrected phenolic content of the outer aqueous phase and  $TPC_{DE}$  is the total phenolic content of the double emulsion.

Moreover, as Çilek Tatar (2018) explained, first-order kinetics can be used to describe the release kinetics of OLE from double emulsions. Equation for the first order kinetics is given in Equation (11).

$$c_a = c_{a0} x e^{-kt}$$
 (Equation 11)

In Equation (11), k is the release rate constant (day<sup>-1</sup>), t is the duration of the storage (days),  $c_{a0}$  is the  $c_a$  is the TPC content of the W2 phase. Natural logarithm of the data was fitted linearly with the storage duration of the samples to find the release rate constant, k.

### 2.4 Statistical Analysis

The presence of a significant difference between different samples was analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA). Minitab software (Minitab Inc., UK) was used to perform ANOVA. Providing a significant difference, Tukey's Comparison Test ( $p \le 0.05$ ) was applied to compare samples concerning their difference. Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error. Results represent the mean of two replicates. Statistical tests were also conducted using two replications.

### **CHAPTER 3**

#### **RESULTS & DISCUSSION**

### 3.1 Particle Size and Distribution

To investigate the particle size and distribution of emulsions, samples were first dispersed inside water, which was an appropriate solvent since the outer phase was water-based. Then, measurements were taken using a laser diffraction particle size analyzer. During particle size measurements, droplets of the inner aqueous phase are not considered to contribute significantly to the scattering since they were thought to be enclosed within the oil globules (Sapei et al., 2012).

As emphasized by Garti & Aserin (1996), it is crucial to produce emulsions with smaller particle size in the primary emulsion to obtain samples with superior stability. However, the processing parameters, the type of emulsion, the viscosity of the phases, composition, the nature of the emulsifier and the concentration of the dispersed phase are all parameters that have a significant impact on particle size (Bou et al., 2014; Sanhueza et al., 2022). As these parameters vary considerably between studies, comparing the particle size with other studies is challenging.

All the emulsions, irrespective of the homogenization method and flour concentration, showed multimodal particle size distribution (Figure 3.1, Figure 3.2). According to our results, the type of distribution changed with respect to the emulsifiers used during the emulsification rather than the homogenization parameters or concentration of the emulsifier.

Kabakci (2022) also observed multimodal particle size distributions for double emulsions prepared with pea flour. Similar behavior was also observed in the study of Sridharan et al. (2020), in which pea protein concentration and pea flour were used as emulsifiers for O/W type of emulsions. Both studies supported the multimodal type of distribution observed in our study.

Moreover, Hemar et al. (2010) stated that bimodal distribution was seen in emulsions with PGPR which might have also caused the primary emulsion to display multimodal particle size distribution. Bimodal distribution of droplets might signify that the different emulsifiers in the solution could affect the particles separately and that no certain interaction was present between the different biopolymers (Choi et al., 2020).

Surface moment mean diameters  $(D_{3,2})$  of double emulsions prepared with different homogenization methods are shown in Figure 3.3.  $D_{50}$ ,  $D_{4,3}$  and span values for double emulsions were summarized in Table 3.1. The average diameter of the samples decreased significantly as the flour concentration was increased (p<0.05) (Figure 3.1, Figure 3.2).

For emulsions prepared using HSH, surface mean diameter was found as 12.76  $\mu$ m, 8.88  $\mu$ m and 6.84  $\mu$ m for samples prepared with 15%, 20%, and 25% flour, respectively. Whereas for US, surface mean diameter values were found as 12.15  $\mu$ m, 6.88  $\mu$ m and 6.79  $\mu$ m (Figure 3.3). Mehrnia et al. (2017) also observed similar behavior when biopolymer concentration was increased for Angum/Arabic gum and whey protein double emulsions, which was explained by better coverage of droplets.

Moreover, Pimentel-Moral et al. (2018) demonstrated that the emulsifier concentration might be one of the causes of the final emulsion's greater particle size and decreased stability during storage, which resulted from the majority of the individual droplets generated during emulsification not being preserved in the mixture. As a result, with greater surfactant concentrations, the size of the droplets during emulsification would be smaller.



Figure 3.1 Particle size distribution of double emulsions prepared with high-speed homogenization using different concentrations of pea flour ( $\blacktriangle$ ):15%, ( $\blacklozenge$ ):20%, ( $\bullet$ ):25%



Figure 3.2 Particle size distribution of double emulsions prepared with ultrasonication using different concentrations of pea flour ( $\blacktriangle$ ):15%, ( $\blacklozenge$ ):20%, ( $\bullet$ ):25%

Increasing the protein concentration reduces the interfacial tension, increases the surface area, and causes particle size to decrease (Can Karaca, 2020). Likewise, increasing biopolymer concentration from 2.5 to 5% were shown to decrease droplets diameter due to the higher viscosity of 5% biopolymer solution (Jafari et al., 2012). Similar behavior was observed by Assadpour et al. (2016) for nanoemulsions prepared with whey protein and maltodextrin. Researchers stated that the increase in particle size was expected because when surfactant content was low, the number of dispersed water droplets and their surface area increased dramatically. As the lower amount of emulsifier molecules cannot stabilize these droplets, they flocculate and merge together, resulting in coalescence and larger droplets.



Figure 3.3 Surface moment mean diameter  $(D_{3,2})$  of double emulsions prepared with different homogenization methods (HSH, US) and different concentrations of pea flour (15%:  $\blacksquare$ , 20%:  $\blacksquare$ , 25%:  $\blacksquare$ ) \*Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference (p≤0.05)

In addition, Sridharan et al. (2020) observed that protein concentration was effective in the particle size of emulsions stabilized with pea protein. Samples with 0.1% and 0.15% protein by weight had larger oil droplets (around 10  $\mu$ m), while a decrease to 2.5  $\mu$ m was seen in average particle size when the protein content was increased to 0.2%wt. Researchers also emphasized that in systems with low protein content, the particle size of the emulsions was highly dependent on the protein amount; however as the protein content increased, the interface becomes saturated with sufficient protein and thus, protein content was not the primary parameter affecting the particle size after a critical biopolymer content (Sridharan et al., 2020).

Theoretically, high energy input combined with the cavitation produced by sound waves decreases the particle size of the emulsions (Zhou et al., 2022). Yildirim et al. (2017) prepared double emulsions using sodium caseinate, xanthan gum and lecithin-whey protein concentrate as emulsifiers for the outer aqueous phase. Two high-energy methods (high-speed homogenization, ultrasonication) and different ratios for outer and inner phases was employed in the preparation of emulsions. Ultrasonicated samples prepared with xanthan gum had lower mean particle sizes.

In addition, Mahdi Jafari et al. (2007) stated that when treatment duration at 100  $\mu$ m of amplitude was extended, the particle size and span of O/W emulsions decreased. Acoustic cavitation has therefore fractured water droplets under these ultrasonic treatment parameters (100  $\mu$ m of amplitude and 3 min), causing them to accumulate enough surfactant to produce smaller particles and lower span value.

However, the results of Velderrain-Rodríguez et al. (2019) demonstrated that the ultrasonic treatment only had an impact on the emulsions' particle size when the amplitude was above 60  $\mu$ m. Yildirim et al. (2017) also reported that emulsions with sodium caseinate and lecithin-whey protein concentrate had higher mean particle sizes after application of ultrasonication. Researchers stated that when the particle size of the emulsion was already in the micron range, the droplet

characteristic may be affected by the over-processing phenomenon, and an increase in the particle size was observed.

In addition, ultrasonication efficiency is dependent on the position of the probe inside the sample. Oil droplets closer to the ultrasonication probe were subjected to more disruption, resulting in a more polydisperse emulsion. K. Zhang et al. (2020) observed that the position of the probe is effective in the mean droplet diameter and polydispersity index of water-in paraffin oil emulsions. The optimum position for the probe was determined as 2 centimeters from the top of the liquid with increasing mean diameter and polydispersity in both shallow and deeper positions.

Particle size is also dependent on the pH of the pea flour solutions. The particle size of the emulsions decreased significantly in emulsions prepared with pH values distant to the isoelectric point of the pea proteins, which shows a similar behavior with the solubility of proteins. D<sub>4,3</sub> values decreased 5-fold when the pH of the sample was increased from pH 5 to 7. Another 5-fold decrease was observed when the solution pH was further decreased to pH 9 (Liang & Tang, 2013). This shows that the net charge of biopolymers, as well as the interactions among them, are strongly influenced by pH, which was also observed by Assadpour et al. (2016). As a result, pH affects the ability of biopolymers to act as emulsifiers and thus the particle size of the emulsions. In the isoelectric point, proteins precipitate and form large aggregates. Since these aggregates are poorly absorbed in the interface, the repulsive forces between the emulsion droplets are low, which results in lower stability and larger particle size.

Sridharan et al. (2020) commented that higher protein content might result in emulsions with narrower particle size distributions and thus less polydispersity. This contradicts with the findings of our study due to the significant differences in viscosity between the samples and the high amount of polysaccharides in the solutions. Higher span values were found for emulsions with higher legume flour concentrations (Table 3.1).

On the other hand, span values for emulsions prepared with ultrasonication did not differ significantly from high-speed homogenization (p>0.05). Higher span values imply that the emulsion is more polydisperse. In a similar study, Matos et al. (2018) obtained double emulsions with high polydispersity and bimodal particle size distribution for emulsions for encapsulating resveratrol using similar homogenization equipment and parameters to our study. Their results also agree with Hemar et al. (2010) and Matos et al. (2015), in which the mean diameter of double emulsions were found to be in the 10-30  $\mu$ m range. The increase in the span values following ultrasonic homogenization also demonstrated that ultrasonic homogenization created emulsions with a larger range of various particle sizes considering span is a measure of polydispersity.

 $D_{90}$  value in particle size testing expresses the particle size of 90% of the material. Even though ultrasonication treatment did not affect particle size significantly for various concentrations, a lower trend in  $D_{90}$  values was observed for samples treated with ultrasonication (p<0.05).

they of Since thermodynamically unstable, the size are particle the emulsions continues to increase over time and eventually, separation occurs under gravitational force (Kale & Deore, 2017). Chemical aging of the emulsifier also contributes to the increasing particle size during storage. In the study of K. Zhang et al. (2020), after a day of storage at 4°C, the mean diameter of W/O emulsions for encapsulating chitosan increased from 198.5 nm to 204.6 nm while the emulsions stored at 25°C increased from 198.5 nm to 225.7 nm. The polydispersity index was also affected, and an increase from 0.326 to 0.331 was noted for storage at 4°C and 0.326 to 0.343 for emulsions at 25°. Contrarily, in some studies the particle size of the emulsions decreased during storage which was explained by the shrinking of the particles in W1 phase (Sanhueza et al., 2022).

Homogenization	Flour Conc.	$D_{50}(\mu m)$	$D_{4,3}(\mu m)$	Span
Method	(%)			
	15	$43.75\pm0.865^{\rm a}$	$68.86\pm2.71^{\mathrm{a}}$	$2.82\pm0.135$
HSH	20	$31.03\pm0.685^{bc}$	$57.53 \pm 1.17^{ab}$	$4.89 \pm 0.470$
	25	$24.66\pm1.012^{\circ}$	$51.53\pm4.28^{\text{bc}}$	$5.25 \pm 1.365$
	15	$36.59\pm3.685^{ab}$	$66.30\pm0.81^{\text{a}}$	$2.33\pm0.205$
US	20	$24.98\pm2.167^{\circ}$	$53.15\pm1.33^{bc}$	$4.92\pm0.210$
	25	$22.81\pm0.205^{\circ}$	$42.99 \pm 1.35^{\circ}$	$8.69\pm0.160$

Table 3.1  $D_{50}$ ,  $D_{3,2}$  and  $D_{4,3}$  and span values for double emulsions prepared with different homogenization methods and pea flour concentrations

\*Different letters in the same column represents significant difference (p≤0.05)
# 3.2 Rheology

Our study revealed that the rheological properties correlate with the stability of emulsions. The rheological properties of the emulsions will be effective in the applicability of the final product in food products in the future.

A high correlation of determination ( $R^2$ ) was obtained when flow data obtained from the rheometer was fitted with power model. Yildirim et al. (2017) indicated that double emulsions generally have  $R^2$  values higher than 0.997. In our study,  $R^2$ values for all the samples were indeed higher than 0.997 except for samples prepared with 15% pea flour and using ultrasonication which had an  $R^2$  value of 0.985 (Table 3.2).

As S. bin Choi et al. (2018) pointed out, reliance of viscosity on the shear rate is an important relationship in the rheology of double emulsions. The flow behavior of the emulsions was identified as shear-thinning based on the flow behavior index (n) values since the apparent viscosity of the double emulsions decreased as the shear rate increased (Figure 3.4, Figure 3.5, Figure 3.6).

Flour Conc. (%)	Homogenization Method	k (Pa.s <sup>n</sup> )	n	R <sup>2</sup>
15	HSH	$0.94\pm0.072^{\text{c}}$	$0.722 \pm 0.0117^{\rm a}$	0,9971
	US	$0.38\pm0.054^{\rm c}$	$0.769 \pm 0.0035^{\rm a}$	0,9858
20	HSH	$3.24\pm0.406^{\text{b}}$	$0.613 \pm 0.0213^{b}$	0,9992
	US	$1.52\pm0.240^{bc}$	$0.701 \pm 0.0140^{a}$	0,9983
25	HSH	$10.39\pm0.646^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.526\pm0.0027^{\circ}$	0,9995
	US	$12.03\pm0.347^{\mathrm{a}}$	$0.502\pm0.0191^{\texttt{c}}$	0,9992

Table 3.2 Consistency index and flow behavior index of double emulsions prepared with different methods (HSH, US) and pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%)

\*Different letters in the same column represents a significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ )

Double emulsions generally exhibit shear thinning behavior (Choi et al., 2018; Yildirim et al., 2017). Shear thinning behavior is a property of emulsions that have loosely bound droplet aggregates (McClements, 2009). The aggregates display higher viscosity rates at lower shear rates before they begin to flow. However, as the shear rate rises, the weak connections between droplets may disintegrate, and the aggregates may align in the direction of the shear (Choi et al., 2018; Sridharan et al., 2020).

Yildirim et al. (2017) also stated that the deformation of the network that formed in the equilibrium state is the cause of the shear-thinning behavior of double emulsions. As the shear force was applied, network rupture occurred, and the droplets of the primary emulsion were deformed due to increased shear stress. Shear-thinning behavior can also be interpreted as a smooth transition between a hard phase, in which droplets are rigid, and a soft phase, in which they are deformable (Foglino et al., 2017). These mechanisms contribute to the decrease in viscosity.

The flow behavior index (n) varied from 0.526 to 0.722 for emulsions prepared with HSH, while it changed between 0.502 and 0.769 for ultrasonicated samples (Table 3.2). The application of ultrasonication did not change the flow behavior of the emulsions significantly (p<0.05).

Moreover, higher values for the flow behavior index were observed for the samples stabilized by 15% flour solution, which indicated that the behavior of emulsions was more closer to Newtonian (Table 3.2.). In general, the flow behavior of double emulsions became closer to Newtonian fluids in higher shear rates as droplet deformation grew more steady (S. bin Choi et al., 2018).



Figure 3.4 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different methods using 15% pea flour ( $\bullet$ ):HSH, ( $\blacktriangle$ ):US



Figure 3.5 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different methods using 20% pea flour ( $\bullet$ ):HSH, ( $\blacktriangle$ ):US



Figure 3.6 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different methods using 25% pea flour ( $\bullet$ ):HSH, ( $\blacktriangle$ ):US

Zhou et al. (2022) reported that emulsions prepared with HSH and US were nonnewtonian and shear thinning. In addition, when US and HSH treatments were compared, HSH showed higher apparent viscosity and shear stress values compared to the other treatments. Emulsions with smaller particle sizes ordinarily have higher viscosities and lower flow indices, and they exhibit strong shearthinning characteristics (Zhou et al., 2022). Matos et al. (2018) also commented that their double emulsions behaved as pseudoplastic fluids with greater shear thinning in lower flow behavior index (n) values. Moreover, Assadpour et al. (2016) observed that for double emulsions stabilized by whey protein and maltodextrin, emulsifier content was the most critical parameter determining the viscosity of emulsions which was commented to be a result of the higher viscosity of the emulsifier itself. The concentration of the core compound and volume fraction of the dispersed phase was less effective in the final viscosity. Figure 3.7 summarizes the apparent viscosity of emulsions taken at a shear rate value of 150 s<sup>-1</sup>. It was seen that the apparent viscosity of emulsions with 25% flour was significantly higher (p<0.05) than the other samples, which contributes to the increased stability of emulsions significantly. Thicker emulsions are obtained as the solid content of the outer phase increases. (Sridharan et al., 2020)



Figure 3.7 Apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared with different pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) and homogenization methods (HSH:  $\blacksquare$ , US:  $\blacksquare$ ) \*Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference (p≤0.05)

Furthermore, a decrease was observed in the apparent viscosity of emulsions when ultrasonication was applied (Figure 3.7). This effect was more prominent in emulsions prepared with 15% pea flour (Figure 3.4).

Decreasing viscosity as a result of high-intensity ultrasonic treatment was also observed by Kaltsa et al. (2013) in emulsions prepared with whey protein isolate and olive oil. The decreasing trend of viscosity was consistent with emulsions produced with all types of gums (xanthan gum, guar gum, locust bean gum). As previously mentioned, cavitation is the main principle of ultrasonication. Formation and collapse of bubbles inside the solution cause formation of high temperature, pressure and shear rates. As a result, the bond and linkages between the molecules in the solution can break and structure may change (Tiwari et al., 2010).

Decrease in emulsion viscosity was similarly observed by Li & Xiang (2019) for emulsions prepared with coconut oil, xanthan gum, and propylene glycol alginate. Pre-emulsions were first using HSH and then US was applied. Researchers found that emulsions prepared with both emulsifier ratios (3:7 and 4:6) showed a significant decrease after US treatment at 270 W power for 7 min. Similarly, when different treatments (HSH, US and HPH) were compared, samples prepared through HSH showed the highest apparent viscosity, while US homogenized emulsions had the least viscosity among the treatments (Zhou et al., 2022).

Consistency index (k) of emulsions exhibited the same trend with the apparent viscosities of emulsions. In general, a higher consistency index is observed for more viscous emulsions due to increasing solid content as well as the thickening properties of polysaccharides inside the pea flour. Thus, increasing the concentration of pea flour caused a significant increase in the k value of emulsions (p<0.05).

Furthermore, the viscosity of the emulsions is expected to increase during storage. Possible reasons for this are the interaction of compounds in the outer phase, the formation of surfactant micelles, and the rise in particle size (Mohammadi, Jafari, Assadpour, et al., 2016; Rafiee et al., 2011).

## **3.3** Instant Stability

The ability of an emulsion to preserve its physicochemical qualities over time is referred to as emulsion stability (Dickinson, 2009). Due to the extended time needed to achieve results from long-term stability tests, samples were subjected to centrifugation for accelerated stability testing. Normally, particles inside the emulsions are subjected to gravitational forces, and subsequently, separation occurs. Through the forces applied during centrifugation, it is possible to accelerate the phase separation and to compare the stability of emulsions right after preparation.

Correlation coefficients were calculated to assess the correlation of instant stability results with long-term stability. For emulsions stored at 4°C, the correlation coefficient was 0.945 (p=0.000), whereas for storage at 20°C, it was found as 0.767 (p=0.004). Hence, the instant stability of emulsions can provide guidance to the stability of emulsions during prolonged storage at 4°C.

As stated by Matos et al. (2018), the viscosity and densities of both continuous and dispersed phases along with the mean particle size of the dispersed droplets are the main factors affecting the stability of emulsions. When instant stability results were analyzed, it was seen that emulsions prepared with 25% flour had the highest stability, with 67.3% and 69.4% for HSH and US, respectively. The instant stability of emulsions prepared with different methods (HSH, US) and concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) is given in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8 Instant stability of double emulsions prepared with different homogenization methods (HSH, US) and different concentrations of pea flour (15%:  $\square$ , 20%:  $\square$ , 25%:  $\square$ ) \*Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference (p≤0.05)

The concentration of flour in the outer phase had a significant effect on the stability of emulsions (p<0.05). As the flour concentration increased, the total amount of biopolymers in the solution increased accordingly. With more compounds to stabilize the interface, higher stability was observed. Furthermore, biopolymers with a high molecular weight and concentration could form a thick gel around the droplets, which had a positive effect on stability (Yildirim et al., 2017).

When Sridharan et al. (2020) investigated the use of unpurified pea flours as emulsifiers, they observed that the protein portion of flour maintained the interface between phases of the emulsion. Additionally, the absence of starch did not alter the interface's elastic properties, suggesting that non-protein molecules had no impact on the elastic network of the interfacial proteins. This supports the idea that proteins and polysaccharides can contribute to stability through different mechanisms (Sridharan et al., 2020).

The higher apparent viscosity (consistency index) of 25% emulsions also contributed to the stability, which was previously explained in 2.3.4. Instant stability results had a positive correlation with consistency index (r=0.995, p=0.000) and a negative correlation with mean particle size (r= -0.823, p=0.044), as expected.

### 3.4 Long-Term Stability

Instability in emulsions during storage occurs through various mechanisms such as creaming, flocculation, sedimentation, coalescence, and diffusion. Ostwald ripening could also take place in emulsions especially when the particle size of the droplets greatly (McClements, 2015). pH and pressure variations, temperature variability, relative emulsion composition, particle size, microstructures, as well as microbiological and environmental stressors such as agitation and light are physicochemical factors that might impact emulsion instability. These effects can appear at any point of preparation, storage, or consumption (Fasinu et al., 2015).

Instability through gravitational separation may be observed as the separation of the emulsion into phases. For instance, particles of the inner dispersed phase (in our case, the W/O emulsion) tend to move to the upper part of the glass tube due to the lower viscosity of oil, which results in creaming (Matos et al., 2018). Instability through diffusion, on the other hand, is a result of the concentration gradient between phases and causes the core compound to transport from the inner phase to the outer phase. These instability mechanisms governing the emulsions need to be carefully considered when designing emulsion systems.

Different instability mechanisms affect emulsions simultaneously, and the total instability of an emulsion is cumulative of these effects. However, the dominant mechanism may depend on a variety of factors. For instance, Liang & Tang (2013) stated according to their research that droplet coalescence was the main cause of emulsion instability for pea protein isolate emulsions under acidic pH values, whereas bridging flocculation dominated under neutral or alkaline pH values. The addition of polysaccharides to the outer phase can also change the release mechanism of the core compound from emulsions. Mohammadi, Jafari, Assadpour, et al., (2016) stated that phenolic compounds transported from the inner droplets to the outer phase in whey protein-pectin stabilized emulsions while the main instability mechanism for whey protein emulsions was rupturing of the interface.

Long-term stability was determined by visual inspection of the emulsions, similar to the studies found in the literature. The height of the emulsions and the separated serum layers were measured for three months. The first measurement was taken three days after the preparation of the emulsions, and one measurement was taken every week.

During storage, a darker-colored layer was observed over the emulsions combined with the separation of the outer aqueous phase composed of the pea flour solutions at the bottom of the tubes. In samples prepared using 15% pea flour, the separation of the outer phase from the emulsions at the bottom started as early as the first measurement (3<sup>rd</sup> day), while in samples with 20% pea flour, it occurred around 2-3 weeks.

Storage conditions such as temperature have a strong effect on emulsions stability (Can Karaca, 2020). It was observed that emulsions which were stored in 4°C had higher stability compared to the emulsions stored in 20°C (Table 3.3).

Homogenization	Flour	Stability (%)	Stability (%)
Method	Concentration	4°C 20°C	
	(%)		
	15	$70.74\pm0.27^{\text{c}}$	$57.44 \pm 1.53^{d}$
HSH	20	$74.78\pm2.53^{bc}$	$73.79 \pm 1.17^{b}$
	25	$86.72\pm2.45^{\text{a}}$	$86.22\pm0.08^{\rm a}$
	15	$66.90 \pm 1.52^{\circ}$	$56.81\pm0.19^{d}$
US	20	$75.33\pm2.76^{abc}$	$66.00 \pm 1.00^{\circ}$
	25	$85.25 \pm 1.80^{\text{ab}}$	$71.14 \pm 1.14^{\text{bc}}$

Table 3.3 Final stability (%) of emulsions after 12 weeks of storage at 4°C and 20°C

\*Different letters in the same column represents significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ )

For emulsions stored at 4°C, stability of emulsions after 12 weeks of storage varied between 66.9% and 86.7%, while for the emulsions kept at 20°C, it was between 56.6% and 86.22%. Kocaman et al. (2020) also reported that when the release behavior was compared at 4, 20, and 37 °C, the fastest release was found at the highest temperature due to the increased solubility in the oil phase and the faster diffusion rate at this temperature.

An increase in viscosity due to the gelatinization of starch molecules during the heating treatment contributes to the stability of the emulsions. However, as retrogradation takes place during the long-term storage of emulsions, a change in the properties of the outer phase might occur. These changes, as a result, might add to the instability. The rate of retrogradation depends on the temperature and thus is affected by the storage conditions of the samples.

The effect of storage temperature was found to be more prominent in 15% emulsions due to the significantly lower viscosity of the outer aqueous phase, which contributes to the higher diffusion rate between the inner and outer phases. The stability of emulsions with 15% flour and HSH decreased from 92.80% to 57.44% when stored at 20°C (Figure 3.9). For emulsions with US, on the other hand, stability values changed from 85.37% to 56.63% at the same storage conditions (Figure 3.10).

As graphs for the long-term stability (Figure 3.9, Figure 3.10, Figure 3.11, Figure 3.12) suggest, the highest decrease in stability was between  $3^{rd}$  and  $4^{th}$  weeks, which can be seen more clearly in storage at 20°C.

Emulsions with high apparent viscosity and lower mean particle size are observed to have higher stability values. According to Stoke's law, a droplet's speed is directly proportional to the square of the radius of the droplet and drops as fluid viscosity increases. As a result, it may be said that droplets with lower particle sizes move slowly due to gravitational forces, and thus decreasing particle size slows down gravitational separation (Yildirim et al., 2017). Likewise, Assadpour et al. (2016) emphasized that higher surfactant concentrations could prevent emulsion droplets from coalescing, aid in the breakdown of large droplets and the production of smaller, microscopic droplets that are very stable through decreasing surface tension rapidly which can provide a higher stability.



Figure 3.9 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different concentrations of pea flour and high-speed homogenization during 12 weeks storage at 20°C (▲):15%, (♦):20%, (●):25%



Figure 3.10 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different concentrations of pea flour and ultrasonication during 12 weeks storage at 20°C (▲):15%, (♦):20%, (●):25%



Figure 3.11 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different concentrations of pea flour and high-speed homogenization during 12 weeks storage at  $4^{\circ}C(\blacktriangle):15\%, (\clubsuit):20\%, (\bullet):25\%$ 



Figure 3.12 Long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different concentrations of pea flour and ultrasonication during 12 weeks storage at  $4^{\circ}C$  ( $\blacktriangle$ ):15%, ( $\blacklozenge$ ):20%, ( $\bigcirc$ ):25%

After storage of emulsions in two different environments for 12 weeks, it was observed that emulsions with higher flour concentration had higher stability. At 4°C, the stability of samples prepared with 25% flour was found as 86.72% and 85.25% for HSH and US, respectively (Table 3.3). On the other hand, in emulsions stabilized with 15% flour, the concentration of biopolymers to stabilize the interface was lower, and thus oil particles could not be covered sufficiently, which led to lower stability values (p<0.05).

The concentration of biopolymers (maltodextrin, gum Arabic, tamarind kernel powder) was found to affect the creaming stability of emulsions. A two-fold increase in Tamarind kernel powder concentration (from 1.35 to 2.70 wt%) resulted in an increase in viscosity (42.15 to 68.45 mPa.s) and a decrease in creaming rate (52.50 to 33.99%).

Moreover, increasing the other biopolymers in the solution also had a significant effect on the stability of the double emulsions. The lower creaming stability was commented to be related to the increasing viscosity as it retarded the flocculation of droplets (Pitchaon et al., 2013). Assadpour et al. (2016) investigated the preparation of whey protein-maltodextrin emulsion systems through spontaneous emulsification. After experimenting on properties such as viscosity and encapsulation efficiency, researchers concluded that surfactant concentration was the parameter that had the highest effect on the qualities of the final product.

In our study, the long-term stability of double emulsions prepared with different methods and flour concentrations were correlated with consistency index, apparent viscosity, and particle size diameter with the correlation coefficient of 0.950 (p=0.004), 0.984 (p=0.000) and -0.902 (p=0.014), respectively.

Furthermore, in preliminary tests, it was acknowledged that an antimicrobial agent was needed for long-term stability tests. As pea flour is rich in nutrients, the outer phase of the emulsions, which is not entirely isolated from the environment, is prone to microbial growth. Emulsions stored at 4°C did not exhibit any microbial growth, whereas gas formation and turbidity were observed in emulsions stored at 20°C due to the growth of microorganisms. Previously, it was hypothesized that the antimicrobial properties of OLE would inhibit the deterioration of emulsions. However, the concentration of phenolic compounds in the outer phase proved to be insufficient to inhibit the growth of microorganisms. Deterioration was more evident in emulsions prepared with US since air was incorporated in the emulsions during homogenization. Thus, sodium azide, an antimicrobial agent, was added to the inner phase.

As previously mentioned, NaCl was also included in the aqueous phases of emulsions. In double emulsions, the difference in solute concentration between the internal and external phases exerts a force on the surface of the inner and outer droplets, referred as osmotic pressure (Khadem & Sheibat-Othman, 2019). Thus, NaCl is also added as an osmotic regulator. When added to double emulsions, electrolytes can cause a reduction of interfacial tension and enhance the adsorption of the emulsifiers.

When incorporation of different salt concentrations to the double emulsions was investigated, it was experimented that salt increased the efficiency of emulsifiers and had an effect on Laplace pressure. Researchers also commented that a synergistic effect between NaCl and PGPR in the preparation of W/O primary emulsions was critical for the overall success of the double emulsions (Sapei et al., 2012). Similarly, Kwak et al. (2022) compared the performance of different electrolytes as osmotic regulators in double emulsions. They concluded that the addition of electrolytes such as MgCl<sub>2</sub>, NaCl, and KCl was effective to achieve a higher encapsulation efficiency and stability. Kabakci (2022) also demonstrated that emulsions with NaCl showed significantly better stability both after preparation and during storage.

Nevertheless, in some cases, the incorporation of osmotic pressure regulators such as electrolytes or polysaccharides may not be sufficient to control the expulsion of W1 droplets since some emulsifiers may facilitate or accelerate transport phenomena (Garti & Aserin, 1996). Therefore, it is essential to choose the concentration and type of such osmotic regulators deliberately.

# 3.5 Optical Imaging

An inverted light microscope was used to examine the morphological properties of the emulsions. The particle size of the emulsions was in the suitable range, and the particles were visible when lenses with  $10 \times$  and  $40 \times$  magnification were used.

However, dilution of the samples was needed to observe the particles clearly. Distilled water was considered as the appropriate solvent as the outer phase of the double emulsions was water. Obtaining a thin layer of emulsion on the glass slide was also found to be crucial. When samples were diluted, it was easier to obtain a clear image by properly focusing due to overlapping particles of the emulsion.

The left image in Figure 3.13 shows the structure of the hydrated pea flour. The particles in the figure can also be seen in some of the double emulsion images. On the other hand, the right image shows the particles of W/O primary emulsion prepared with high-speed homogenization. Due to the small particle size of the primary emulsion, it was hard to obtain a clear image, even when a  $40 \times$  objective was used.



Figure 3.13 Optical images of hydrated pea flour (left image) and primary emulsion (right image) without dilution

In Figure 3.14, taken during the preliminary studies, the multiple-phase structure of double emulsions can be seen. The contrast of the image was increased to observe the oil droplets and the inner water droplets more clearly.



Figure 3.14 Optical image of double emulsion with 20% pea flour prepared with high-speed homogenization in the preliminary studies (40× magnification)

Owing to the superior emulsifying ability of pea proteins, which was experimented in many studies (Can Karaca, 2020; Liang & Tang, 2013), emulsions with spherical droplets are obtained. In our research, droplets of both primary and double emulsions for all concentrations of pea flour (15%, 20%, 25%) and homogenization methods (HSH, US) were identified as spherically shaped. Flour addition enables the formation of a matrix around dispersed droplets, and the oil phase is trapped inside the W2 phase. Moreover, Kabakci et al. (2021) observed that the homogenization method might affect the morphology of the double emulsions considerably. When ultrasonication was applied, the shape and the diameters of emulsion droplets changed. In their study, primary emulsions were treated with ultrasonication equipment for 10 min at 160 W power, 20 kHz frequency, and 50% pulse as opposed to the lower power level and higher duration employed in this study. They commented that the formation of droplets with irregular shapes resulted from the sonication device's high energy application.

The type of emulsifier can also lead to differences in the shape of the particles. Non-spherical droplets were obtained when lecithin was used as the only surfactant for stabilization of the oil phase of W/O/W emulsions loaded with mango peel extract (Velderrain-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Combining lecithin with other surfactants such as PGPR can aid in the formation of more homogenously shaped droplets which was observed in this study. Moreover, this shows that the surfactant used in the primary emulsion is also effective in the microstructure of the double emulsions and hence should be carefully selected when the shape of the droplets is considered.

Optical images of double emulsions prepared with 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour are given in Figure 3.15, Figure 3.16 and Figure 3.17, respectively. Multiple phased structure of double emulsions is confirmed with images taken with the light microscope. Images taken with  $10 \times$  magnification are given in Appendix B.



Figure 3.15 Optical images of double emulsions prepared with 15% pea flour using high speed homogenization (left) and ultrasonic homogenization (right) with  $40 \times$  magnification



Figure 3.16 Optical images of double emulsions prepared with 20% pea flour using high speed homogenization (left) and ultrasonic homogenization (right) with  $40 \times$  magnification



Figure 3.17 Optical images of double emulsions prepared with 25% pea flour using high speed homogenization (left) and ultrasonic homogenization (right) with  $40 \times$  magnification

Although it is not possible to determine the exact particle sizes through the microscope since only a small portion of the samples can be observed, optical images obtained from the microscope were in agreement with the results from the particle size analyzer. Smaller particle size was observed as the concentration of the flour was increased.

## 3.6 Encapsulation Efficiency of Emulsions and Release (%) of OLE

The effectiveness with which the bioactive ingredient is retained in the inner phase of the emulsion determines the quality of the emulsions (Mudrić et al., 2019). In double emulsions, encapsulation efficiency is referred to as the amount of the core material that is entrapped within the primary emulsion after the second homogenization process. The length and complexity of the analytical procedure render it difficult to quantify the efficiency, even though it is one of the most crucial characteristics for the quality of a double emulsion.

Our study evaluated the encapsulation efficiency of emulsions after 4 hours of storage. For the calculation of efficiency, the W2 phase of the emulsions was recovered through centrifugation and filtration. The phenolic content found in the W2 phase was then subtracted from the phenolic content of the extract added during the preparation of the primary emulsion. The total phenolic content of the samples was determined through the Folin-Ciacalteou method.

The total phenolic content of the liquid olive leaf extract was found as 17.82 mg GAE/g liquid extract. The phenolic content of extracts varies significantly on the variety of the olive tree and the parameters used in the extraction of the phenolic compounds.

As pea flour was also rich in phenolic compounds, another factor that was necessary to be considered when calculating the efficiency was the phenolic content of the outer phase of the emulsion. Thus, emulsions without the addition of extract were prepared. The application of high temperatures may increase the phenolic content of pulses (Vasilean et al., 2018). For this reason, the contribution of pea flour to the total phenolic content results was evaluated through the preparation of emulsions without the core material.

The phenolic content of emulsions without the OLE was referred to as  $TPC_{W2,0}$  and was subtracted from the TPC of the outer phase to find the corrected phenolic content of the W2 phase ( $TPC_{W2,corrected}$  or  $TPC_{W2,c}$ ). The phenolic content of pea flour used in the experiments was 2.95 mg GAE/g flour.

Phenolic content of pea flour changes substantially with respect to the variety. According to Turkmen et al. (2005) phenolic content of peas grown in Turkey was 1.83 mg GAE/g dry weight. Ladjal Ettoumi & Chibane (2015) found the TPC of pea flour as 2.36 mg GAE/g for a common variety of peas in Algeria, while for peas grown in Mexico, the phenolic content was quantified as 5.84 mg GAE/g (Borges-Martínez et al., 2022). Marathe et al. (2011), on the other hand, reported the TPC for pea flours obtained from India between 0.93 and 1.04 mg GAE/g.

Samples prepared with US were found to have lower EE compared to the double emulsions prepared with HSH (p<0.05) (Figure 3.18). The lower apparent viscosity of the emulsions observed in 15% and 20% coupled with the US treatment may have had a detrimental effect on the encapsulation of the core compound. Even though the optical images did not reveal changes in the morphological properties of droplets, high shear and temperature caused by the US treatment can disrupt the integrity of droplets, also explained by over-processing phenomena.

The encapsulation efficiency of the emulsions was also related to the particle size of the emulsions. Emulsions with lower particle size typically exhibit higher steric stability (Huang et al., 2019). However, the small size and thus, the large specific surface area of the droplets in emulsions may encourage the chemical breakdown of the core material (Niknam et al., 2020). As smaller particle size was obtained when a higher concentration of pea flour was used, the concentration of the flour significantly affected the encapsulation efficiency (p<0.05). For HSH, EE values were found as 89.73%, 88.52%, and 86.40% for emulsions prepared with 15%, 20%, and 25%, respectively.



Figure 3.18 Encapsulation efficiency (%) of double emulsions prepared with different pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) and homogenization methods (HSH:  $\blacksquare$ , US: $\blacksquare$ ) \*Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference (p≤0.05)

Yildirim et al. (2017) and Kabakci et al. (2021) also observed a strong correlation between larger emulsion droplets and higher efficiency values. As the particle size of oil particles decreased, a larger overall area of the O/W2 interface was formed. Compared to bigger particle emulsions with the same amount of oil phase, the total area of contact and transfer increase as particle size decreases due to the increase in the total area of oil droplets. As a result, in comparison to larger oil droplets, the possibility of inner aqueous phase (W2) interaction with the oil-water interface is higher for smaller oil droplets (Schuch et al., 2014). A higher amount of water is encapsulated inside the droplets of emulsions when the size of droplets is larger. Thus, a higher encapsulation efficiency is achieved (Schuch et al., 2015). Encapsulation efficiency for mango seed kernel powder and methyl gallate W/O/W emulsions increased with increasing biopolymer concentrations. The type of the polysaccharide was also effective, which is mainly explained by the change in the viscosity of the system (Pitchaon et al., 2013). Mansuroglu et al. (2020) observed a similar trend for encapsulation of black pepper seed oil using chickpea protein and maltodextrin by spray drying. The efficiency increased from 74.1 to 99.3 as the protein concentration was increased from 1% to 4%. Researchers also observed a significant decrease in surface oil which was identified as an important parameter for the success of encapsulation.

Pea flour is mainly composed of proteins and polysaccharides. The approximate protein content of yellow pea flour was found as 24.5 g, while the polysaccharide content was 53.5 g per 100 g of flour (Han & Baik, 2008). High protein and carbohydrate amount of the pea flour were effective in keeping the phenolic compounds in the olive leaf extract contained inside the emulsion. Pea proteins contributed to the encapsulation efficiency of emulsions mainly due to their amphiphilic character, which was emphasized by many studies (Hadidi et al., 2021; Ladjal Ettoumi & Chibane, 2015).

Polysaccharides, on the other hand, was more effective in the manipulation of the outer phase viscosity and slowing down the transport of the encapsulated material as well as keeping the material inside the primary emulsion. However, in some cases, the osmotic balance-driven leakage of water from the inner-water phase to the outer-water phase might dilute the outer-phase concentration of polysaccharides, making them unstable and having a lower encapsulation efficiency after storage (Pitchaon et al., 2013).

Another characteristic that affects the encapsulation efficiency was gelling of the outer phase. Gel formation was effective to increase encapsulation efficiency and to decrease the release of caffeine from its capsule to the outer aqueous phase (Dickinson, 2011). Yildirim et al. (2017) likewise concluded that the gelling ability of xanthan gum enhanced the encapsulation efficiency of the double emulsion.

Similarly, when thermal treatment was applied, starch molecules in the flour solution could undergo gelatinization and thus increase the viscosity. Viscosity increase due to gelatinization of starch molecules was demonstrated by Yang et al. (2021). Since pea flour is abundant in starch, increasing the concentration of flour might slow down the coalescence of emulsions through increasing viscosity and decreasing the movement of particles. Gelatinization of pea starch happens around 70-75°C (Sun et al., 2021). Thus, samples were kept in the water bath until the solution temperature reached to 75°C.

Encapsulation efficiency of oleuropein, the main phenolic compound in olive leaf extract, was found as 34% when it was encapsulated using soy phosphatidylcholine liposomes. Prepared liposomes were incorporated into acidic model drinks and were capable of protecting the phenolic-rich extract from degradation (González-Ortega et al., 2021). Furthermore, for W/O/W emulsions containing whey protein concentrate and whey protein-pectin, encapsulation efficiency for olive leaf phenolics was 93.34% and 96.64%, respectively. On the 20th storage day, these values were reduced to 72.73% and 88.81%. It could be seen that emulsions prepared with only whey protein as the emulsifier showed higher release rates (Mohammadi, Jafari, Esfanjani, et al., 2016).

In addition, single and double emulsions encapsulating OLE was prepared by Jolayemi et al. (2021). The effect of encapsulated and unencapsulated OLE on the oxidation of the salad dressings was investigated. Encapsulation of the extract provided a slower and more controlled release of the core compound. The physical instability of dressings was also addressed.

The storage test regarding the release of OLE revealed that the double emulsions were effective in the controlled release. We did not observe a sudden release over the duration of the storage (Figure 3.19).

Dickinson (2011) commented that a double emulsion system can be thought to have satisfactory stability if the initial yield is around 95% and the yield after a few weeks of storage remains in the region of 70-80%. In our study, EE efficiency remained over 70% after a storage period of 13 days at 37°C.



Figure 3.19 Release (%) of OLE from emulsions prepared using HSH and 25% pea flour during 13 days of storage at 37°C \*Different letters in the bars represent a significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ )

Furthermore, linear regression was performed to gain insight into the release of the core compound to the outer phase. According to Çilek Tatar (2018), first-order kinetics can be used to represent the release on OLE. Indeed when the natural logaritm of the data was fitted with respect to storage duration, a high coefficient of determination value ( $R^2=0.991$ ) was obtained.

The kinetic constant concerning the phenolic content of the outer phase was found as  $0.0237 \, d^{-1}$  for emulsions prepared with 25% pea flour (Figure 3.20). The contribution of pea flour to the phenolic content of the phases was again taken into account when calculating the TPC. The positive sign of the kinetic constant indicates that the amount of olive leaf extract released through W2 during storage had an increasing trend.



Figure 3.20 Fittings of the first-order kinetics of the corrected W2 results of double emulsions prepared using HSH and 25% pea flour during 13 days of storage at  $37^{\circ}C$ 

### **CHAPTER 4**

#### **CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

The main objective of this study was the use of pea flour, which is a natural and inexpensive emulsifier, for the encapsulation of olive leaf extract without purification. The double emulsion systems were hypothesized to increase the stability of the phenolic compounds extracted from a by-product of olive production. The effect of different pea flour concentrations (15%, 20%, 25%) and different homogenization methods (HSH, US) were investigated.

For the characterization of the samples; particle size, rheology, encapsulation efficiency, stability, and optical images of the emulsions were evaluated. Emulsions prepared with both methods and all concentrations demonstrated shear thinning behavior and multi-modal particle size distribution. Furthermore, both the long-term and instant stability of emulsions were correlated to the viscosity and particle size of the emulsions. As a result of high biopolymer concentration and thus, emulsifying ability, pea flour was found to be a successful encapsulating agent. It was observed that the emulsions prepared with 25% flour had the highest stability due to their higher viscosity and smaller particle size of the emulsions. Lower values for  $D_{90}$  was obtained; however, this decrease did not contribute to the stability of the emulsions. It was concluded that HSH is a more effective method for obtaining higher encapsulation efficiencies.

In addition, storage temperature also affected the stability of emulsions as emulsions stored at 20°C showed faster degradation as compared to 4°C. Moreover, due to the lower viscosity, this effect was more prominent in emulsions in which 15% pea flour was employed. Average encapsulation efficiency values for double emulsions prepared with HSH and US were found as 88.3% and 85.9%, respectively. In addition, double emulsions were effective in controlled release of OLE, double emulsion method can therefore be used for successful and efficient encapsulation of olive leaf extract.

Future studies on this subject can include the incorporation of the prepared double emulsions in a real food matrix which will be used for the fortification of food which can contribute to the development of functional foods with proposed health benefits. Further in-depth research is needed to understand how each emulsifier interacts with the interface and the core compound, OLE. In vitro tests could be used to evaluate the protection capability of emulsions against unfavorable environmental conditions. Furthermore, in-vivo tests might also be conducted to gain insight into the bioavailability of phenolic compounds. Lastly, the industrial applicability of our method for the preparation of pea flour emulsions can also be investigated and optimized. As OLE is obtained from a by-product of olive and olive oil production, its encapsulation can support sustainable agriculture.

#### REFERENCES

- Acevedo, B. A., Thompson, C. M. B., González Foutel, N. S., Chaves, M. G., & Avanza, M. v. (2017). Effect of different treatments on the microstructure and functional and pasting properties of pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan L.), dolichos bean (Dolichos lablab L.) and jack bean (Canavalia ensiformis) flours from the north-east Argentina. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, *52*(1), 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.13271
- Adeyi, O., Ikhu-Omoregbe, D. I. O., & Jideani, V. A. (2019). Physical stability characteristics of sunflower oil-in-water emulsion containing sodium chloride, stabilized by gelatinized bambara groundnut flour. *Cogent Engineering*, *6*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311916.2019.1597405
- Adeyi, O., Ikhu-Omoregbe, D., & Jideani, V. (2014). Emulsion stability and steady shear characteristics of concentrated oil-in-water emulsion stabilized by gelatinized bambara groundnut flour. *Asian Journal of Chemistry*, 26(16), 4995–5002. https://doi.org/10.14233/ajchem.2014 .16287
- Aditya, N. P., Aditya, S., Yang, H. J., Kim, H. W., Park, S. O., Lee, J., & Ko,
  S. (2015). Curcumin and catechin co-loaded water-in-oil-in-water emulsion and its beverage application. *Journal of Functional Foods*, *15*, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFF.2015.03.013
- Al-Maqtari, Q. A., Ghaleb, A. D. S., Mahdi, A. A., Al-Ansi, W., Noman, A. E., Wei, M., Al-Adeeb, A., & Yao, W. (2021). Stabilization of water-in-oil emulsion of Pulicaria jaubertii extract by ultrasonication: Fabrication,

characterization, and storage stability. *Food Chemistry*, 350, 129249. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2021.129249

- Altuntas, O. Y., Sumnu, G., & Sahin, S. (2017). Preparation and characterization of W/O/W type double emulsion containing PGPR– lecithin mixture as lipophilic surfactant. *Journal of Dispersion Science* and Technology, 38(4), 486–493. https://doi.org/10.1080/01932691. 2016.1179121
- Andrade, J., & Corredig, M. (2016). Vitamin D3 and phytosterols affect the properties of polyglycerol polyricinoleate (PGPR) and protein interfaces. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 54, 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD. 2015.10.001
- Ashraf, S., Saeed, S. M. G., Sayeed, S. A., & Ali, R. (2012). Impact of microwave treatment on the functionality of cereals and legumes. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 14(3), 365–370.
- Assadpour, E., Maghsoudlou, Y., Jafari, S.-M., Ghorbani, M., & Aalami, M. (2016). Optimization of folic acid nano-emulsification and encapsulation by maltodextrin-whey protein double emulsions. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 86, 197–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.01.064
- Bamba, B. S. B., Shi, J., Tranchant, C. C., Xue, S. J., Forney, C. F., Lim, L. T., Xu, W., & Xu, G. (2018). Coencapsulation of Polyphenols and Anthocyanins from Blueberry Pomace by Double Emulsion Stabilized by Whey Proteins: Effect of Homogenization Parameters. *Molecules 2018, Vol. 23, Page 2525, 23*(10), 2525. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES23102525

- Bayram, M., Topuz, S., & Kaya, C. (2020). Zeytin Yaprağı Ekstraktı ve Oleuropeinin Antioksidan, Antimikrobiyal Aktivitesi, Gıdalarda Kullanım Olanakları. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture - Food Science and Technology*, 8(2), 337. https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v8i2.337-347.3039
- Benichou, A., Aserin, A., & Garti, N. (2007). W/O/W double emulsions stabilized with WPI–polysaccharide complexes. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 294(1–3), 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COLSURFA.2006.07.056
- Bonnet, M., Cansell, M., Berkaoui, A., Ropers, M. H., Anton, M., & Leal-Calderon, F. (2009). Release rate profiles of magnesium from multiple W/O/W emulsions. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 23(1), 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2007.11.016
- Borges-Martínez, E., Gallardo-Velázquez, T., Cardador-Martínez, A., Moguel-Concha, D., Osorio-Revilla, G., Ruiz-Ruiz, J. C., & Martínez, C. J. (2022). Phenolic compounds profile and antioxidant activity of pea (Pisum sativum L.) and black bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) sprouts. *Food Science and Technology (Brazil)*, 42. https://doi.org/10.1590/FST.45920
- Borjan, D., Leitgeb, M., Knez, Ž., & Hrnčič, M. K. (2020). Microbiological and Antioxidant Activity of Phenolic Compounds in Olive Leaf Extract. In *Molecules* (Vol. 25, Issue 24). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/ MOLECULES25245946
- Bou, R., Cofrades, S., & Jiménez-Colmenero, F. (2014). Physicochemical properties and riboflavin encapsulation in double emulsions with different lipid sources. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 59(2P1), 621–628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2014.06.044

- Boye, J., Zare, F., & Pletch, A. (2010). Pulse proteins: Processing, characterization, functional properties and applications in food and feed. In *Food Research International* (Vol. 43, Issue 2, pp. 414–431). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2009.09.003
- Caballero, S., & Davidov-Pardo, G. (2021). Comparison of legume and dairy proteins for the impact of Maillard conjugation on nanoemulsion formation, stability, and lutein color retention. *Food Chemistry*, 338(May 2020), 128083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.128083
- Can Karaca, A. (2020). Effect of emulsion formulation on characteristics of pea protein-stabilized oil-in-water emulsions. *Celal Bayar Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi*. https://doi.org/10.18466/cbayarfbe.752703
- Choi, S. bin, Park, J. Y., Moon, J. Y., & Lee, J. S. (2018). Effect of interactions between multiple interfaces on the rheological characteristics of double emulsions. *Physical Review E*, 97(6). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PHYSREVE.97.062603
- Choi, M.-J., Choi, D., Lee, J., & Jo, Y.-J. (2020). Encapsulation of a bioactive peptide in a formulation of W 1 /O/W 2-type double emulsions: Formation and stability. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foostr.2020.100145
- Cilek, B., Luca, A., Hasirci, V., Sahin, S., & Sumnu, G. (2012). Microencapsulation of phenolic compounds extracted from sour cherry pomace: Effect of formulation, ultrasonication time and core to coating ratio. *European Food Research and Technology*, 235(4), 587–596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-012-1786-8
- Çilek Tatar, B. (2018). Utilization of phenolic compounds extracted from different agricultural wastes through various encapsulation methods.
- Dapueto, N., Troncoso, E., Mella, C., & Zúñiga, R. N. (2019). The effect of denaturation degree of protein on the microstructure, rheology and physical stability of oil-in-water (O/W) emulsions stabilized by whey
protein isolate. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 263, 253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2019.07.005

- Debib, A., & Boukhatem, M. N. (2017). Phenolic Content, Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activities of "Chemlali" Olive Leaf (Olea europaea L.) Extracts. *International Journal of Pharmacology, Phytochemistry and Ethnomedicine*, 6, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.18052/www.scipress.com /ijppe.6.38
- Dickinson, E. (2009). Hydrocolloids and emulsion stability. Handbook of Hydrocolloids: Second Edition, 23–49. https://doi.org/10.1533/ 9781845695873.23
- Dickinson, E. (2011). Double Emulsions Stabilized by Food Biopolymers. Food Biophysics, 6(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-010-9188-6
- Difonzo, G., Russo, A., Trani, A., Paradiso, V. M., Ranieri, M., Pasqualone, A., Summo, C., Tamma, G., Silletti, R., & Caponio, F. (2017). Green extracts from Coratina olive cultivar leaves: Antioxidant characterization and biological activity. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 31, 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2017.01.039
- Dulger Altiner, D., & Hallaç, Ş. (2017). Examination of Some Chemical and Functional Properties of Carob and Soy Flours and Usage of Them in Bakery Products. *International Journal of Food Engineering Research* (*Ijfer*)
- Espinosa-Álvarez, C., Jaime-Matus, C., & Cerezal-Mezquita, P. (2019). Some physical characteristics of the O/W macroemulsion of oleoresin of astaxanthin obtained from biomass of Haematococcus pluvialis. *DYNA (Colombia)*, 86(208), 136–142. https://doi.org/10.15446/DYNA. V86N208.74586

- Estrada-Fernández, A. G., Román-Guerrero, A., Jiménez-Alvarado, R., Lobato-Calleros, C., Alvarez-Ramirez, J., & Vernon-Carter, E. J. (2018).
  Stabilization of oil-in-water-in-oil (O1/W/O2) Pickering double emulsions by soluble and insoluble whey protein concentrate-gum Arabic complexes used as inner and outer interfaces. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 221, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2017.10.006
- General Standard For Food Additives, (1995). http://www.fao.org/food/foodsafety-quality/scientific-advice/jecfa/jecfa-additives/en/.
- Faridi Esfanjani, A., Jafari, S. M., & Assadpour, E. (2017). Preparation of a multiple emulsion based on pectin-whey protein complex for encapsulation of saffron extract nanodroplets. *Food Chemistry*, 221, 1962–1969. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2016.11.149
- Fasinu, E. G., Ikhu-Omoregbe, D. I. O., & Jideani, V. A. (2015). Influence of selected physicochemical factors on the stability of emulsions stabilized by Bambara groundnut flour and starch. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 52(11), 7048–7058. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-015-1818-z
- Felix, M., Isurralde, N., Romero, A., & Guerrero, A. (2018). Influence of pH value on microstructure of oil-in-water emulsions stabilized by chickpea protein flour. *Food Science and Technology International*, 24(7), 555– 563. https://doi.org/10.1177/1082013218774707
- Feng, T., Fan, C., Wang, X., Wang, X., Xia, S., & Huang, Q. (2022). Foodgrade Pickering emulsions and high internal phase Pickering emulsions encapsulating cinnamaldehyde based on pea protein-pectin-EGCG complexes for extrusion 3D printing. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *124*, 107265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2021.107265

- Flores-Andrade, E., Pascual-Pineda, L. A., Alarcón-Elvira, F. G., Rascón-Díaz, M. P., Pimentel-González, D. J., & Beristain, C. I. (2017). Effect of vacuum on the impregnation of Lactobacillus rhamnosus microcapsules in apple slices using double emulsion. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 202, 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG.2017.02.005
- Foglino, M., Morozov, A. N., Henrich, O., & Marenduzzo, D. (2017). Flow of Deformable Droplets: Discontinuous Shear Thinning and Velocity Oscillations. *Physical Review Letters*, 119(20), 208002. https://doi.org/10.1103/
- Ganje, M., Jafari, S. M., Dusti, A., Dehnad, D., Amanjani, M., & Ghanbari, V. (2016). Modeling quality changes in tomato paste containing microencapsulated olive leaf extract by accelerated shelf life testing. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 97, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBP.2015.10.002
- Garti, N., & Aserin, A. (1996). Double emulsions stabilized by macromolecular surfactants. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 65, 37–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8686(95)00289-8
- Ge, J., Sun, C. X., Corke, H., Gul, K., Gan, R. Y., & Fang, Y. (2020). The health benefits, functional properties, modifications, and applications of pea (Pisum sativum L.) protein: Current status, challenges, and perspectives. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 19(4), 1835–1876. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12573
- Ghanbari, R., Anwar, F., Alkharfy, K. M., Gilani, A. H., & Saari, N. (2012). Valuable nutrients and functional bioactives in different parts of olive (Olea europaea L.)-A review. In *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* (Vol. 13, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms13033291

- Gharehbeglou, P., Jafari, S. M., Homayouni, A., Hamishekar, H., & Mirzaei, H. (2019). Fabrication of double W1/O/W2 nano-emulsions loaded with oleuropein in the internal phase (W1) and evaluation of their release rate. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *89*(September 2018), 44–55. https://doi.org /10.1016/j.foodhyd.2018.10.020
- Gharibzahedi, S. M. T., & Smith, B. (2021). Legume proteins are smart carriers to encapsulate hydrophilic and hydrophobic bioactive compounds and probiotic bacteria: A review. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 20(2), 1250–1279. https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12699
- Gibbs, B. F., Kermasha, S., Alli, I., & Mulligan, C. N. (1999). Encapsulation in the food industry: a review. *International Journal of Food Sciences* and Nutrition, 50(3), 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/096374899101256
- Giroux, H. J., Robitaille, G., & Britten, M. (2016). Controlled release of casein-derived peptides in the gastrointestinal environment by encapsulation in water-in-oil-in-water double emulsions. *LWT*, 69, 225– 232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2016.01.050
- González-Ortega, R., Šturm, L., Skrt, M., di Mattia, C. D., Pittia, P., & Poklar Ulrih, N. (2021). Liposomal Encapsulation of Oleuropein and an Olive Leaf Extract: Molecular Interactions, Antioxidant Effects and Applications in Model Food Systems. *Food Biophysics*, 16(1), 84–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11483-020-09650-y
- Guerra-Rosas, M. I., Morales-Castro, J., Ochoa-Martínez, L. A., Salvia-Trujillo, L., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2016). Long-term stability of foodgrade nanoemulsions from high methoxyl pectin containing essential oils. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 52, 438–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD .2015.07.017

- Guo, J., Jiang, J., Gu, X., Li, X., & Liu, T. (2021). Encapsulation of β-carotene in calcium alginate hydrogels templated by oil-in-water-in-oil (O/W/O) double emulsions. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2020.125548
- Hadidi, M., Boostani, S., & Jafari, S. M. (2022). Pea proteins as emerging biopolymers for the emulsification and encapsulation of food bioactives. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 126(November 2021), 107474. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.foodhyd.2021.107474
- Hadidi, M., Motamedzadegan, A., Jelyani, A. Z., & Khashadeh, S. (2021). Nanoencapsulation of hyssop essential oil in chitosan-pea protein isolate nano-complex. *LWT*, 144, 111254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021 .111254
- Han, H., & Baik, B. K. (2008). Antioxidant activity and phenolic content of lentils (Lens culinaris), chickpeas (Cicer arietinum L.), peas (Pisum sativum L.) and soybeans (Glycine max), and their quantitative changes during processing. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 43(11), 1971–1978. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.2008.01800.x
- Hemar, Y., Cheng, L. J., Oliver, C. M., Sanguansri, L., & Augustin, M. (2010). Encapsulation of resveratrol using Water-in-Oil-in-Water double emulsions. *Food Biophysics*, 5(2), 120–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11483-010-9152-5
- Herrero, M., Temirzoda, T. N., Segura-Carretero, A., Quirantes, R., Plaza, M.,
  & Ibañez, E. (2011). New possibilities for the valorization of olive oil byproducts. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1218*(42), 7511–7520. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHROMA.2011.04.053

- Huang, H., Belwal, T., Liu, S., Duan, Z., & Luo, Z. (2019). Novel multi-phase nano-emulsion preparation for co-loading hydrophilic arbutin and hydrophobic coumaric acid using hydrocolloids. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 93, 92–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2019.02.023
- Ilyasoglu Buyukkestelli, H., & El, S. N. (2019). Development and characterization of double emulsion to encapsulate iron. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 263, 446–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG .2019.07.026
- Jafari, S. M., Assadpoor, E., He, Y., & Bhandari, B. (2008). Encapsulation Efficiency of Food Flavours and Oils during Spray Drying. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/07373930802135972*, 26(7), 816–835. https://doi.org/10.1080/07373930802135972
- Jafari, S. M., Beheshti, P., & Assadpoor, E. (2012). Rheological behavior and stability of d-limonene emulsions made by a novel hydrocolloid (Angum gum) compared with Arabic gum. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 109(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2011.10.016
- Jafari, S. M., He, Y., & Bhandari, B. (2007). Nano-Emulsion Production by Sonication and Microfluidization—A Comparison. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/10942910600596464*, 9(3), 475–485. https://doi.org/10.1080/10942910600596464
- Jimenez-Colmenaro, F. (2013). Potential applications of multiple emulsions in the development of healthy and functional foods.
- Jolayemi, O. S., Stranges, N., Flamminii, F., Casiraghi, E., & Alamprese, C. (2021). Influence of Free and Encapsulated Olive Leaf Phenolic Extract on the Storage Stability of Single and Double Emulsion Salad Dressings. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 14(1), 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-020-02574-y

- Kabakci, C. (2022). Magnesium fortification in cakes by using double emulsions with legume flours.
- Kabakci, C., Sumnu, G., Sahin, S., & Oztop, M. H. (2021). Encapsulation of Magnesium with Lentil Flour by Using Double Emulsion to Produce Magnesium Enriched Cakes. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 14(10), 1773–1790. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-021-02672-5
- Kale, S., & Deore, S. (2017). Emulsion Microemulsion and Nanoemulsion. Systematic Review in Pharmacy, 8(1), 39–47.
- Kaltsa, O., Michon, C., Yanniotis, S., & Mandala, I. (2013). Ultrasonic energy input influence on the production of sub-micron o/w emulsions containing whey protein and common stabilizers. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 20(3), 881–891. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ULTSONCH.2012.11.011
- Kanha, N., Regenstein, J. M., Surawang, S., Pitchakarn, P., & Laokuldilok, T. (2021). Properties and kinetics of the in vitro release of anthocyanin-rich microcapsules produced through spray and freeze-drying complex coacervated double emulsions. *Food Chemistry*, 340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.127950
- Kentish, S., Wooster, T. J., Ashokkumar, M., Balachandran, S., Mawson, R., & Simons, L. (2008). The use of ultrasonics for nanoemulsion preparation. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 9(2), 170–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IFSET.2007.07.005
- Khadem, B., & Sheibat-Othman, N. (2019). Theoretical and Experimental Investigations of Double Emulsion Preparation by Ultrasonication. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, 58(19), 8220–8230. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.IECR.9B00556/ASSET/IMAGES/MEDIU M/IE-2019-00556N\_M045.GIF

- Kiokias, S., & Varzakas, T. (2017). Innovative applications of food-related emulsions. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/10408398.2015.1130017*, 57(15), 3165–3172. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2015.1130017
- Kiritsakis, K., Goula, A. M., Adamopoulos, K. G., & Gerasopoulos, D. (2018). Valorization of Olive Leaves: Spray Drying of Olive Leaf Extract. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, 9(4), 619–633. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12649-017-0023-X/TABLES/1
- Kocaman, E., Can Karaca, A., & van der Meeren, P. (2020). Release of amino acids encapsulated in PGPR-stabilized W/O/W emulsions is affected by temperature and hydrophobicity. *Food Research International*, 137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109527
- Kosaraju, S. L., D'ath, L., & Lawrence, A. (2006). Preparation and characterisation of chitosan microspheres for antioxidant delivery. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 64(2), 163–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.CARBPOL.2005.11.027
- Kurt, S., & Ceylan, H. G. (2018). Model system evaluation of the effects of pea and pH on the emulsion properties of beef. *South African Journal of Animal Sciences*, 48(2), 316–323. https://doi.org/10.4314/sajas.v48i2.12
- Kwak, E., Lee, J., Jo, Y. J., & Choi, M. J. (2022). Effect of electrolytes in the water phase on the stability of W1/O/W2 double emulsions. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 650, 129471. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COLSURFA.2022.129471
- Ladjal Ettoumi, Y., & Chibane, M. (2015). Some physicochemical and functional properties of pea, chickpea and lentil whole flours. *International Food Research Journal*, 22(3), 987–996.
- Lamba, H., Sathish, K., & Sabikhi, L. (2015). Double Emulsions: Emerging Delivery System for Plant Bioactives. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 8(4), 709–728. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11947-014-1468-6/TABLES/2

- Lan, Y., Ohm, J. B., Chen, B., & Rao, J. (2021). Microencapsulation of hemp seed oil by pea protein isolate–sugar beet pectin complex coacervation: Influence of coacervation pH and wall/core ratio. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *113*, 106423. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2020.106423
- Leister, N., & Karbstein, H. P. (2020). Evaluating the stability of double emulsions— A review of the measurement techniques for the systematic investigation of instability mechanisms. In *Colloids and Interfaces* (Vol. 4, Issue 1). MDPI AG. https://doi.org/10.3390/colloids4010008
- Leong, T. S. H., Ong, L., Gamlath, C. J., Gras, S. L., Ashokkumar, M., & Martin, G. J. O. (2020). Formation of cheddar cheese analogues using canola oil and ultrasonication – A comparison between single and double emulsion systems. *International Dairy Journal*, 105, 104683. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IDAIRYJ.2020.104683
- Leong, T. S. H., Zhou, M., Zhou, D., Ashokkumar, M., & Martin, G. J. O. (2018). The formation of double emulsions in skim milk using minimal food-grade emulsifiers – A comparison between ultrasonic and high pressure homogenisation efficiencies. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 219, 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG.2017.09.018
- Li, X., van der Gucht, J., Erni, P., & de Vries, R. (2021). Core-Shell Microcapsules from Unpurified Legume Flours. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 13(31), 37598–37608. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami .1c06896
- Li, Y., & Xiang, D. (2019). Stability of oil-in-water emulsions performed by ultrasound power or high-pressure homogenization. *PLOS ONE*, 14(3), e0213189. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0213189
- Liang, H. N., & Tang, C. H. (2013). PH-dependent emulsifying properties of pea [Pisum sativum (L.)] proteins. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 33(2), 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2013.04.005

- Lu, W., Kelly, A. L., & Miao, S. (2016). Emulsion-based encapsulation and delivery systems for polyphenols. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 47, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIFS.2015.10.015
- Lu, Z. H., Donner, E., & Liu, Q. (2018). Effect of roasted pea flour/starch and encapsulated pea starch incorporation on the in vitro starch digestibility of pea breads. *Food Chemistry*, 245, 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.foodchem .2017.10.037
- Mansuroglu, N. P., Yazici, E., Önder, S., & Can Karaca, A. (2020). Encapsulation of Black Pepper Seed Oil in Maltodextrin-Chickpea Protein Isolate Matrix With Spray Drying Method. 9(2), 877–882. https://doi.org/10.28948/ngmuh.649969
- Marathe, S. A., Rajalakshmi, V., Jamdar, S. N., & Sharma, A. (2011).
  Comparative study on antioxidant activity of different varieties of commonly consumed legumes in India. *Food and Chemical Toxicology :* An International Journal Published for the British Industrial Biological Research Association, 49(9), 2005–2012. https://doi.org/10.1016
  /J.FCT.2011.04.039
- Martín-García, B., de Montijo-Prieto, S., Jiménez-Valera, M., Carrasco-Pancorbo, A., Ruiz-Bravo, A., Verardo, V., & Gómez-Caravaca, A. M. (2022). Comparative Extraction of Phenolic Compounds from Olive Leaves Using a Sonotrode and an Ultrasonic Bath and the Evaluation of Both Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activity. *Antioxidants*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox11030558
- Matos, M., Gutiérrez, G., Iglesias, O., Coca, J., & Pazos, C. (2015).
  Enhancing encapsulation efficiency of food-grade double emulsions containing resveratrol or vitamin B12 by membrane emulsification. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 166, 212–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JFOODENG .2015.06.002

- Matos, M., Gutiérrez, G., Martínez-Rey, L., Iglesias, O., & Pazos, C. (2018). Encapsulation of resveratrol using food-grade concentrated double emulsions: Emulsion characterization and rheological behaviour. *Journal* of Food Engineering, 226, 73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng .2018.01.007
- McClements, D. J. (2007). Critical review of techniques and methodologies for characterization of emulsion stability. In *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* (Vol. 47, Issue 7, pp. 611–649). https://doi.org /10.1080/10408390701289292
- McClements, D. J. (2009). Biopolymers in Food Emulsions. Modern Biopolymer Science: Bridging the Divide between Fundamental Treatise and Industrial Application, 129–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374195-0.00004-5
- McClements, D. J. (2012). Advances in fabrication of emulsions with enhanced functionality using structural design principles. *Current Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science*, 17(5), 235–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COCIS.2012.06.002
- McClements, D. J. (2015). Food Emulsions: Principles, Practices, and Techniques. Food Emulsions: Principles, Practices, and Techniques, Third Edition, 1–676. https://doi.org/10.1201/B18868/
- Mehrnia, M. A., Jafari, S. M., Makhmal-Zadeh, B. S., & Maghsoudlou, Y. (2017). Rheological and release properties of double nano-emulsions containing crocin prepared with Angum gum, Arabic gum and whey protein. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 66, 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.foodhyd.2016.11.033
- Mohammadi, A., Jafari, S. M., Assadpour, E., & Faridi Esfanjani, A. (2016). Nano-encapsulation of olive leaf phenolic compounds through WPCpectin complexes and evaluating their release rate. *International Journal*

of Biological Macromolecules, 82, 816–822. https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.ijbiomac.2015.10.025

- Mohammadi, A., Jafari, S. M., Esfanjani, A. F., & Akhavan, S. (2016). Application of nano-encapsulated olive leaf extract in controlling the oxidative stability of soybean oil. *Food Chemistry*, 190, 513–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2015.05.115
- Mudrić, J., Šavikin, K., Ibrić, S., & Đuriš, J. (2019). Double emulsions (W/O/W emulsions): Encapsulation of plant bioactives. *Lekovite Sirovine*, 39, 76–83. https://doi.org/10.5937/leksir1939076m
- Muhoza, B., Qi, B., Harindintwali, J. D., Farag Koko, M. Y., Zhang, S., & Li, Y. (2022). Combined plant protein modification and complex coacervation as a sustainable strategy to produce coacervates encapsulating bioactives. In *Food Hydrocolloids* (Vol. 124). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2021.107239
- Niknam, S. M., Escudero, I., & Benito, J. M. (2020). Formulation and preparation ofwater-in-oil-in-water emulsions loaded with a phenolicrich inner aqueous phase by application of high energy emulsification methods. *Foods*, 9(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9101411
- Nishad, J., Dutta, A., Saha, S., Rudra, S. G., Varghese, E., Sharma, R. R., Tomar, M., Kumar, M., & Kaur, C. (2021). Ultrasound-assisted development of stable grapefruit peel polyphenolic nano-emulsion: Optimization and application in improving oxidative stability of mustard oil. *Food Chemistry*, 334, 127561. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM .2020.127561
- Ohadi, M., Shahravan, A., Dehghannoudeh, N., Eslaminejad, T., Banat, I. M.,
  & Dehghannoudeh, G. (2020). Potential use of microbial surfactant in microemulsion drug delivery system: A systematic review. *Drug Design*,

Development and Therapy, 14, 541–550. https://doi.org/10.2147 /DDDT.S232325

- Pattnaik, M., & Mishra, H. N. (2022). Effect of Ultrasonication and wall materials on the stability, rheology, and encapsulation efficiency of vitamins in a lipid-based double emulsion template. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, e14201. https://doi.org/10.1111/JFPE.14201
- Peralbo-Molina, Á., & Luque deCastro, M. D. (2013). Potential of residues from the Mediterranean agriculture and agrifood industry. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 32(1), 16–24. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.TIFS .2013.03.007
- Pereira Souza, A. C., Deyse Gurak, P., & Damasceno Ferreira Marczak, L. (2017). Maltodextrin, pectin and soy protein isolate as carrier agents in the encapsulation of anthocyanins-rich extract from jaboticaba pomace. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 102, 186–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.FBP.2016.12.012
- Pimentel-Moral, S., Ochando-Pulido, J. M., Segura-Carretero, A., & Martinez-Ferez, A. (2018). Stabilization of W/O/W multiple emulsion loaded with Hibiscus sabdariffa extract through protein-polysaccharide complexes. *LWT*, 90, 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LWT.2017.12.054
- Pitchaon, M., Tanawan, W., & Thepkunya, H. (2013). Tamarind kernel powder, gum arabic and maltodextrin as a novel combination for encapsulating agents of phenolic antioxidants. *International Food Research Journal*, 20(2), 645–652.
- Porfiri, M. C., Vaccaro, J., Stortz, C. A., Navarro, D. A., Wagner, J. R., & Cabezas, D. M. (2017). Insoluble soybean polysaccharides: Obtaining and evaluation of their O/W emulsifying properties. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 73, 262–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2017.06.034

- Quintero, J., Rojas, J., & Ciro, G. (2018). Vegetable proteins as potential encapsulation agents: A review. *Food Research*, 2(3), 208–220. https://doi.org/10.26656/fr.2017.2(3).261
- Rafiee, Z., Jafari, S. M., Alami, M., & Khomeiri, M. (2011). Microwaveassisted extraction of phenolic compounds from olive leaves; a comparison with maceration. J. Anim. Plant Sci, 21(4), 738.
- Raikos, V., Neacsu, M., Russell, W., & Duthie, G. (2014). Comparative study of the functional properties of lupin, green pea, fava bean, hemp, and buckwheat flours as affected by pH. *Food Science and Nutrition*, 2(6), 802–810. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.143
- Ravanfar, R., Comunian, T. A., Dando, R., & Abbaspourrad, A. (2018). Optimization of microcapsules shell structure to preserve labile compounds: A comparison between microfluidics and conventional homogenization method. *Food Chemistry*, 241, 460–467. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM.2017.09.023
- Ren, N., Ma, Z., Li, X., & Hu, X. (2021). Preparation of rutin-loaded microparticles by debranched lentil starch-based wall materials: Structure, morphology and in vitro release behavior. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 173, 293–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2021.01.122
- Robert, P., Zamorano, M., González, E., Silva-Weiss, A., Cofrades, S., & Giménez, B. (2019). Double emulsions with olive leaves extract as fat replacers in meat systems with high oxidative stability. *Food Research International*, *120* (November 2018), 904–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.foodres.2018.12.014
- Saikia, T., & Sultan, A. S. (2020). Development of silane-modified colloidal silica pickering emulsion stabilized by organophilic micronized phyllosilicate for conformance control. *Journal of Petroleum Science and*

*Engineering*, *194*, 107427. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PETROL.2020. 107427

- Sanhueza, L., García, P., Giménez, B., Benito, J. M., Matos, M., & Gutiérrez, G. (2022). Encapsulation of Pomegranate Peel Extract (Punica granatum L.) by Double Emulsions: Effect of the Encapsulation Method and Oil Phase. *Foods*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11030310
- Sapei, L., Naqvi, M. A., & Rousseau, D. (2012). Stability and release properties of double emulsions for food applications. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 27(2), 316–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2011.10.008
- Schuch, A., Helfenritter, C., Funck, M., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2015).
   Observations on the influence of different biopolymers on coalescence of inner water droplets in W/O/W (water-in-oil-in-water) double emulsions.
   *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 475(1), 2–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COLSURFA.2014.06.012
- Schuch, A., Wrenger, J., & Schuchmann, H. P. (2014). Production of W/O/W double emulsions. Part II: Influence of emulsification device on release of water by coalescence. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 461, 344–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COL SURFA.2013.11.044
- Shahidi, F., & Han, X. Q. (1993). Encapsulation of food ingredients. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 33(6), 501–547. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408399309527645
- Silva, J. L., de Almeida Paula, D., Lelis, C. A., Vieira, É. N. R., & Ramos, A. M. (2022).Double emulsions containing probiotic cells (Lactiplantibacillus plantarum) added in a mango dessert. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 46(8), e16783. https://doi.org/10.1111 /JFPP.16783

- Silva, W., Torres-Gatica, M. F., Oyarzun-Ampuero, F., Silva-Weiss, A., Robert, P., Cofrades, S., & Giménez, B. (2018). Double emulsions as potential fat replacers with gallic acid and quercetin nanoemulsions in the aqueous phases. *Food Chemistry*, 253, 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.01.128
- Sridharan, S., Meinders, M. B. J., Bitter, J. H., & Nikiforidis, C. v. (2020). Pea flour as stabilizer of oil-in-water emulsions: Protein purification unnecessary. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 101, 105533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2019.105533
- Sudjana, A. N., D'Orazio, C., Ryan, V., Rasool, N., Ng, J., Islam, N., Riley, T. v., & Hammer, K. A. (2009). Antimicrobial activity of commercial Olea europaea (olive) leaf extract. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 33(5), 461–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJANTIMICAG .2008.10.026
- Sun, Y., Li, F., Luan, Y., Li, P., Dong, X., Chen, M., Dai, L., & Sun, Q. (2021). Gelatinization, pasting, and rheological properties of pea starch in alcohol solution. *Food Hydrocolloids*, *112*, 106331. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.FOODHYD.2020.106331
- Talhaoui, N., Taamalli, A., Gómez-Caravaca, A. M., Fernández-Gutiérrez, A.,
  & Segura-Carretero, A. (2015). Phenolic compounds in olive leaves: Analytical determination, biotic and abiotic influence, and health benefits. *Food Research International*, 77, 92–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.FOODRES.2015.09.011

TEPGE.(2020).Zeytinyağı.https://arastirma.tarimorman.gov.tr/tepge/Belgeler/PDFTarım ÜrünleriPiyasaları/2020-Temmuz Tarım Ürünleri Raporu

- Tiwari, B. K., Muthukumarappan, K., O'Donnell, C. P., & Cullen, P. J. (2010). Rheological Properties of Sonicated Guar, Xanthan and Pectin Dispersions. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/10942910802317610*, *13*(2), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/10942910802317610
- Topuz, S., & Bayram, M. (2022). Oleuropein extraction from leaves of three olive varieties (Olea europaea L.): Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of purified oleuropein and oleuropein extracts. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 46(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/JFPP.15697
- Trujillo-Cayado, L. A., Alfaro, M. C., García, M. C., & Muñoz, J. (2017).
  Comparison of homogenization processes for the development of green
  O/W emulsions formulated with N,N-dimethyldecanamide. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, 46, 54–61.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JIEC.2016.10.015
- Tumbas Šaponjac, V., Čanadanović-Brunet, J., Ćetković, G., Jakišić, M., Djilas, S., Vulić, J., & Stajčić, S. D. S. (2016). Encapsulation of beetroot pomace extract: RSM optimization, storage and gastrointestinal stability. *Molecules*, 21(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21050584

Turkish Ministry of Food and Agriculture. (2022). Olive production.

- Turkmen, N., Sari, F., & Velioglu, Y. S. (2005). The effect of cooking methods on total phenolics and antioxidant activity of selected green vegetables. *Food Chemistry*, 93(4), 713–718. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODCHEM .2004.12.038
- Polyglycerol polyricinoleate, Pub. L. No. Gras notice:266 (2009). https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm ?fr=172.854

- Van der Graaf, S., Schroën, C. G. P. H., & Boom, R. M. (2005). Preparation of double emulsions by membrane emulsification - A review. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 251(1–2), 7–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MEMSCI .2004.12.013
- Vasilean, I., Aprodu, I., Vasilean, I., & Patraşcu, L. (2018). Pulse flour based emulsions - The effect of oil type on technological and functional characteristics. *Studia Universitatis Babes-Bolyai Chemia*, 63(1), 199– 214. https://doi.org/10.24193/subbchem.2018.1.15
- Velderrain-Rodríguez, G. R., Acevedo-Fani, A., González-Aguilar, G. A., & Martín-Belloso, O. (2019). Encapsulation and stability of a phenolic-rich extract from mango peel within water-in-oil-in-water emulsions. *Journal* of Functional Foods, 56, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2019.02.045
- Vélez-Erazo, E. M., Consoli, L., & Hubinger, M. D. (2018). Mono and double-layer emulsions of chia oil produced with ultrasound mediation. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, *112*, 108–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FBP .2018.09.007
- Wandrey, C., Bartkowiak, A., Harding, S. E., Wandrey, C., Bartkowiak, A., Harding, S. E., Zuidam, N. J., & Nedović, V. A. (2010). Materials for Encapsulation. *Encapsulation Technologies for Active Food Ingredients* and Food Processing, 31–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1008-0\_3
- Yang, J., Gu, Z., Cheng, L., Li, Z., Li, C., & Hong, Y. (2021). Effect of temperature, pH, and ionic strength on the structure and physical stability of double emulsions prepared with starch. *Lwt*, 141(September 2020), 111086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111086
- Yang, R., Zhu, L., Meng, D., Wang, Q., Zhou, K., Wang, Z., & Zhou, Z. (2021). Proteins from leguminous plants: from structure, property to the function in encapsulation/binding and delivery of bioactive compounds.

*Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 0(0), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2021.1883545

- Yang, Y., Marshall-Breton, C., Leser, M. E., Sher, A. A., & McClements, D. J. (2012). Fabrication of ultrafine edible emulsions: Comparison of highenergy and low-energy homogenization methods. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 29(2), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FOODHYD.2012.04.009
- Ye, Q., Biviano, M., Mettu, S., Zhou, M., Dagastine, R., & Ashokkumar, M. (2016). Modification of pea protein isolate for ultrasonic encapsulation of functional liquids. *RSC Advances*, 6(108), 106130–106140. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6ra17585f
- Yildirim, M., Sumnu, G., & Sahin, S. (2017). The effects of emulsifier type, phase ratio, and homogenization methods on stability of the double emulsion. *Journal of Dispersion Science and Technology*, 38(6), 807– 814. https://doi.org/10.1080/01932691.2016.1201768
- Zhang, K., Mao, Z., Huang, Y., Xu, Y., Huang, C., Guo, Y., Ren, X., & Liu, C. (2020). Ultrasonic assisted water-in-oil emulsions encapsulating macro-molecular polysaccharide chitosan: Influence of molecular properties, emulsion viscosity and their stability. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 64, 105018. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ULTSONCH.2020.105018
- Zhang, R., Belwal, T., Li, L., Lin, X., Xu, Y., & Luo, Z. (2020). Recent advances in polysaccharides stabilized emulsions for encapsulation and delivery of bioactive food ingredients: A review. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 242(May). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2020.116388
- Zhou, L., Feng, X., Yang, Y., Chen, Y., Wang, J., Wei, S., & Li, S. (2019).
  Effects of high-speed shear homogenization on properties and structure of the chicken myofibrillar protein and low-fat mixed gel. *LWT*, *110*, 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LWT.2019.04.061

- Zhou, L., Zhang, J., Xing, L., & Zhang, W. (2021). Applications and effects of ultrasound assisted emulsification in the production of food emulsions: A review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 110, 493–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIFS.2021.02.008
- Zhou, L., Zhang, W., Wang, J., Zhang, R., & Zhang, J. (2022). Comparison of oil-in-water emulsions prepared by ultrasound, high-pressure homogenization and high-speed homogenization. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 82, 105885. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ULTSONCH.2021 .105885

# **APPENDICES**

## A. Calibration Curves



Figure 6.1 Calibration curve prepared by gallic acid in ethanol:water mixture (50:50 v/v) for determination of total phenolic contents

Absorbance (760 nm) = 
$$0.01 * \left(mg \frac{GAE}{L}\right) + 0.0231$$

 $R^2 = 0.9979$ 

# **B.** Optical Images of Double Emulsions



Figure 6.2 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using HSH and with 15% flour (taken with 10x lens)



Figure 6.3 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using HSH and with 20% flour (taken with 10x lens)



Figure 6.4 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using HSH and with 25% flour (taken with 10x lens)



Figure 6.5 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using US and with 15% flour (taken with 10x lens)



Figure 6.6 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using US and with 20% flour (taken with 10x lens)



Figure 6.7 Optical image of double emulsion prepared using US and with 25% flour (taken with 10x lens)

#### C. Statistical Analysis

Table 6.1 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for surface mean diameter (D3,2) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour concentrations

#### General Linear Model: D3,2 versus method, concentration

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
method	Fixed	2	HSH, US
concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
method	1	2.283	2.2834	10.40	0.018
concentration	2	71.971	35.9856	163.97	0.000
method*concentration	2	1.884	0.9420	4.29	0.070
Error	6	1.317	0.2195		
Total	11	77.455			

#### **Comparisons for D3,2**

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method**

method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH	6	9.47576 A	
US	6	8.60333	В

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: concentration**

concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping	
15	4	12.4506 A	1	
20	4	7.8534	В	
25	4	6.8146	С	

Table 6.1 (Continued)

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method\*concentration**

method*concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH 15	2	12.7563 A	-
US 15	2	12.1450 A	
HSH 20	2	8.8269	В
US 20	2	6.8800	С
HSH 25	2	6.8442	С
US 25	2	6.7850	С

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.2 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for volume mean diameter (D4,3) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour concentrations

#### General Linear Model: D4,3 versus method, concentration

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
method	Fixed	2	HSH, US
concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
method	1	79.93	79.928	7.68	0.032
concentration	2	837.10	418.549	40.21	0.000
method*concentration	2	18.83	9.413	0.90	0.454
Error	6	62.46	10.410		
Total	11	998.31			

Table 6.2 (Continued)

# **Comparisons for D4,3**

# **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method**

method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH	6	59.3050 A	
US	6	54.1433	В

# **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: concentration**

concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
15	4	67.5750 A	1
20	4	55.3400	В
25	4	47.2575	С

# Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method\*concentration

method*concentration	Ν	Mean	Group	ing
HSH 15	2	68.855 A		
US 15	2	66.295 A		
HSH 20	2	57.530 A	В	
US 20	2	53.150	В	С
HSH 25	2	51.530	В	С
US 25	2	42.985		С

Table 6.3 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for  $D_{50}$  value of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour concentrations

#### General Linear Model: D50 versus method, concentration

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
method	Fixed	2	HSH, US
concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
method	1	129.90	129.90	6.22	0.047
concentration	2	645.36	322.68	15.44	0.004
method*concentration	2	39.81	19.91	0.95	0.437
Error	6	125.37	20.90		
Total	11	940.45			

#### **Comparisons for D50**

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method**

method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH	6	33.1440	A
US	6	26.5637	В

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: concentration**

concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
15	4	40.1650 A	1
20	4	25.6630	В
25	4	23.7335	В

method*concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH 15	2	43.7450 A	A
US 15	2	36.5850 A	A B
HSH 20	2	31.0250 A	A B
HSH 25	2	24.6621	В
US 25	2	22.8050	В
US 20	2	20.3010	В

Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method\*concentration

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.4 One-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for  $D_{90}$  value of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour concentrations

#### **One-way ANOVA: D90 versus method**

#### Method

Null hypothesis	All means are equal
Alternative hypothesis	Not all means are equal
Significance level	$\alpha = 0.05$

Equal variances were assumed for the analysis.

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Levels	Values
method	2	HSH, US

# Analysis of Variance

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
method	1	6366	6366.0	14.99	0.003
Error	10	4246	424.6		
Total	11	10612			

Table 6.4 (Continued)

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons**

method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH	6	142.7 A	
US	6	96.60	В

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.5 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for flow behaviour index of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour concentrations

# General Linear Model: n versus method, concentration

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
method	Fixed	2	HSH, US
concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
method	1	0.004028	0.004028	10.34	0.018
concentration	2	0.108868	0.054434	139.73	0.000
method*concentration	2	0.006429	0.003214	8.25	0.019
Error	6	0.002337	0.000390		
Total	11	0.121663			

#### Comparisons for n

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method**

method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
US	6	0.657150 A	
HSH	6	0.620506	В

concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
15	4	0.745225 A	
20	4	0.657171	В
25	4	0.514088	С

# **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: concentration**

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

method*concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
US 15	2	0.768600 A	
HSH 15	2	0.721850 A	
US 20	2	0.700975 A	
HSH 20	2	0.613367	В
HSH 25	2	0.526300	С
US 25	2	0.501875	С

# Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method\*concentration

Table 6.6 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for consistency index of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour concentrations

# General Linear Model: k versus method, concentration

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
method	Fixed	2	HSH, US
concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
method	1	0.136	0.136	0.53	0.494
concentration	2	256.098	128.049	499.57	0.000
method*concentration	2	5.815	2.907	11.34	0.009
Error	6	1.538	0.256		
Total	11	263.586			

#### Comparisons for k

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method**

method	Ν	Mean Grouping
HSH	6	4.85752 A
US	6	4.64465 A

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: concentration**

concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping	
25	4	11.2085 A		
20	4	2.3816	В	
15	4	0.6631	С	

Table 6.6 (Continued)

method*concentration	Ν	Mean	Group	oing
US 25	2	12.0279 A	1	
HSH 25	2	10.3891 A	1	
HSH 20	2	3.2407	В	
US 20	2	1.5225	В	С
HSH 15	2	0.9427		С
US 15	2	0.3835		С

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: method\*concentration**

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.7 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for apparent viscosity of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour concentrations

# General Linear Model: Apparent Viscosity versus Method, Concentration

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
Method	Fixed	2	HSH, US
Concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
Method	1	0.02939	0.029387	6.46	0.044
Concentration	2	1.49632	0.748162	164.36	0.000
Method*Concentration	2	0.00393	0.001967	0.43	0.668
Error	6	0.02731	0.004552		
Total	11	1.55695			

Table 6.7 (Continued)

#### **Comparisons for Apparent Viscosity**

# **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Method**

Method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH	6	0.576858 A	
US	6	0.477886	В

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

# **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Concentration**

Concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
25	4	1.00937 A	1
20	4	0.39949	В
15	4	0.17325	С

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Ν	Mean	Group	oing
2	1.03390 A	A	
2	0.98485 A	A	
2	0.46640	В	
2	0.33258	В	С
2	0.23028	В	С
2	0.11623		С
	N 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	N         Mean           2         1.03390 A           2         0.98485 A           2         0.46640           2         0.33258           2         0.23028           2         0.11623	N         Mean         Group           2         1.03390 A         2           2         0.98485 A         2           2         0.46640 B         B           2         0.33258 B         2           2         0.23028 B         2           2         0.11623

### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Method\*Concentration**

Table 6.8 Correlation coefficients and p values of instant stability versus consistency index (k) and average particle diameter  $(D_{3,2})$ 

# **Pairwise Pearson Correlations**

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	<b>P-Value</b>
k	Instant stability	0.995	(0.955, 1.000)	0.000

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	<b>P-Value</b>
D3,2	Instant stability	-0.823	(-0.980, -0.033)	0.044

Table 6.9 Correlation coefficients and p values of instant stability versus long-term stability at 4°C and 20°C

#### **Pairwise Pearson Correlations**

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	<b>P-Value</b>
storage stability (4°)	Instant Stability	0.945	(0.812, 0.985)	0.000

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	<b>P-Value</b>
storage stability (20°)	Instant Stability	0.767	(0.344, 0.931)	0.004

Table 6.10 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for instant stability of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 30% pea flour concentrations

### General Linear Model: Instant Stability vs Method, Concentration

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Туре	Levels Values		
Method	Fixed	2	HSH, US	
Concentration	Fixed	3	15, 20, 25	

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
Method	1	0.16	0.156	0.10	0.759
Concentration	2	1687.81	843.904	555.44	0.000
Method*Concentration	2	7.73	3.867	2.54	0.158
Error	6	9.12	1.519		
Total	11	1704.81			

### **Comparisons for Instant Stability**

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Method**

# Method N Mean Grouping

HSH	6 51.9333 A
US	6 51.7052 A

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Concentration**

Concentration	N	Mean	Grou	ping
25	4	68.3453	А	
20	4	46.0350	В	
15	4	41.0775		С
Table 6.10 (Continued)

<b>Method</b> *Concentration	N	Mean	Group	oing
US 25	2	69.3555	А	
HSH 25	2	67.3350	А	
HSH 20	2	46.5750	В	
US 20	2	45.4950	В	
HSH 15	2	41.8900	В	С
US 15	2	40.2650		С

# **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Method\*Concentration**

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.11 Correlation coefficients and p values of stability versus consistency index (k), apparent viscosity and average particle diameter  $(D_{3,2})$ 

## **Pairwise Pearson Correlations**

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	<b>P-Value</b>
k	storage stability (4°)	0.950	(0.602, 0.995)	0.004

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	<b>P-Value</b>
apparent viscosity	storage stability (4°)	0.984	(0.859, 0.998)	0.000

Sample 1	Sample 2	Correlation	95% CI for ρ	P-Value
D3,2	storage stability (4°)	-0.902	(-0.989, -0.336	0.014

Table 6.12 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for encapsulation efficiency (EE%) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and UH; for 15%, 20% and 25% pea flour concentrations

### General Linear Model: EE (%) versus Method; Concentration

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Туре	Levels	Values
Method	Fixed	2	HSH; US
Concentration	Fixed	3	15; 20; 25

#### **Analysis of Variance**

			Adj	F-	<b>P-</b>
Source	DF	Adj SS	MS	Value	Value
Method	1	16,8270	16,8270	80,67	0,000
Concentration	2	15,7598	7,8799	37,78	0,000
Method*Concentration	2	0,7393	0,3696	1,77	0,248
Error	6	1,2516	0,2086		
Total	11	34,5776			

## **Comparisons for EE (%)**

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Method**

Method	Ν	Mean	Grouping
HSH	6	88,2167 A	
US	6	85,8483	В

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Concentration**

Concentration	Ν	Mean	Grouping
15	4	88,2175 A	
20	4	87,3975 A	
25	4	85,4825	В

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.12 (Continued)

### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons: Method\*Concentration**

<b>Method</b> *Concentration	N Mean	Grouping
HSH 15	2 89,730	A
HSH 20	2 88,525	A
US 15	2 86,705	В
HSH 25	2 86,395	В
US 20	2 86,270	B C
US 25	2 84,570	С

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.

Table 6.13 Two-way ANOVA and Tukey's comparison test for release (%) of double emulsions prepared by HSH and 25% flour

## One-way ANOVA: RR (%) versus Days

#### **Factor Information**

Factor	Levels	Values
Days	5	1, 4, 7, 10, 13

#### **Analysis of Variance**

Source	DF	Adj SS	Adj MS	<b>F-Value</b>	<b>P-Value</b>
Days	4	46.313	11.5782	21.10	0.002
Error	5	2.743	0.5486		
Total	9	49.056			

#### **Tukey Pairwise Comparisons**

Days	N Mean G	rouj	oing
13	2 24.645 A		
10	2 22.595 A	В	
7	2 21.430	В	
4	2 20.115	В	С
1	2 18.310		С

Means that do not share a letter are significantly different.